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Letter to Shareholders

In my letters to you over the past two years, | have talked about the steps we have taken

to reposition APAC for long-term growth and profitability. In July 2005, we announced a
strategic realignment - an initiative we really started almost three years ago - t¢ fundamentally
change our business model from delivering commeoditized outbound customer acquisition
services to providing value-added inbound customer care services. We also began the shift
from a purely domestic delivery infrastructure to a more balanced global medel. | am pleased
to report that 2006 proved to be a pivotal year for APAC, a year in which we completed our
strategic realignment and turned our attention to our next phase of growth.

Transforming Our Company

Since January 2005, we've reduced our domestic capacity, removed a substantial amount

of annualized fixed overhead costs from the business, exited approximately $40.0 million in
annuat revenue frem unprofitable, non-strategic clients, and significantly expanded our higher-
margin off-shore business. Today, we possess an exceptional client base and a business
moedel we believe will drive future growth and profitability. Our clients are market leaders that
place a premium on customer loyalty and retention and share our commitment to high-quality
customer service, We are proud of the partnerships we've formed with our clients and the
work we've done to help them improve their competitive position by maintaining the highest
standards of customer care.

While we have a great deal left to accomplish, we believe our financial results for the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2008 demonstrate the financial potential of our new direction and
validate our strategy. In particular. these results illustrate the positive financial leverage we
can achieve as we grow our higher-margin off-shore business. Revenue for the 2006 fiscal
year, excluding the exited outbound customer acguisition business, increased 11% to $223.4
million frerm $201.1 million in fiscal year 2005, and ongoing off-shore revenue more than
doubled to $28.2 million from $10.9 million in 2005. |n addition, in the 2006 fourth quarter, we
reported operating income of $1.5 millicn and income before taxes of $954,000.

Operationally, we expanded our off-shore capacity in the Philippines in 2006 by opening a
450-seat second facility and leasing space in a temporary site to accommodate client demand
while we built a 2,000-seat third facility that opened in late March, 2007 During the last
eighteen months, we won awards from new clients and expanded relationships with existing
clients in all our core industries. Of particular significance, we were recenily selected by
United Parcel Service to manage its Tampa, Florida customer interaction center and to provide
customer care management and related services there, beginning April 30, 2007 This award
will make UPS, already a very significant customer, our largest client.




Driving Future Growth
and Profitability

As we enter 2007 we believe we are positioned to add new
business frorm both new and existing clients and, as we
continue to grow our higher-margin off-shore revenue, to
begin to realize the long-term financial potential of our new
business model, With strong interest across our industry for
inbound customer care solutions, we are excited about our
new business pipeline and enthusiastic about the growing
interest for our services in the Philippines. We are gaining
recognition for delivering consistent, high-quality service and
for our expertise in healthcare and publishing. We expect a
significant portion of our off-shore revenue growth in 2007 to
come from these twao verticals.

“With strong interest across our
industry for inbound customer care
solutions, we are excited about our new
business pipeline and enthusiastic about
the growing interest for our services in

the Philippines.”

Operationally in 2007 we will continue to focus on
improving both service quality and the efficiency of our
domestic business. We also plan to take additional steps

to strengthen and expand our off-shore infrastructure, add
sales resources focused solely on new client growth, begin
exploring opportunities to add revenue from daytime work
in the Philippines, and expand our atHOME™ mcedel where
appropriate. All of these actions wili help us in the near term
and position us to compete more effectively long term.

“2006 was a pivotal year for APAC,
in which we completed our
strategic realignment and turned
to our next phase of growth.”

Realizing Our Full
Potential

We enter 2007 optimistic about our future, Through the debt
refinancing we completed in February 2007 we improved
APAC's financial flexibility and our ability to meet our ongoing
operational needs and fund our anticipated growth. We have
worked hard to build a business that we believe can deliver
consistent growth and profitability.

We appreciate the continued support of our employees,
our clients and our shareholders and Iookforward to
sharing the rewards of our future success with you.

Robert J. Keller
Chief Executive Officer
April 17 2007
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Forward-Looking Statements and Factors that May Affect Future Results

In passing the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “Reform Act™), Congress encouraged public
companies to make “forward-looking statements” by creating a “safe harbor” to protect companies from securities
law liability in connection with forward-looking statements. The Company intends to qualify its written and oral
forward-looking statements for protection under the Reform Act and any other similar safe harbor provisions.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, the words “Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us,” when used in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K refer collectively to APAC Customer Services, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

Generally, forward-looking statements include expressed expectations, estimates and projections of future events
and financial performance and the assumptions on which these expressed expectations, estimates and projections
are based. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about the beliefs and expectations of the
Company and its management are forward-looking statements. Sometimes these statements will contain words such
as “believes,” “expecls,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates.” “goals,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “plans,” and
other similar words. All forward-looking statements are inherently uncertain as they are based on various
expectations and assumptions about future events, and they are subject to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties that can cause actual events and results to differ materially from historic results and those projected.

Due to such uncertainties, the investment community is cautioned not to place undue reliance on our written or oral
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date on which they were made. If no date is provided, such
statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company expressly undertakes no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements as a result of changed assumptions, new
information, future events or otherwise.

Forward-looking statements are contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, primarily in Items 1, 1A, 3, 7, and
8. Moreover, through our senior management, we may from time to time make forward-looking statements about
matters described herein or about other matters concerning us.

There are numerous factors that could prevent us from achieving our goals and cause future resulis to differ
materially from historic results or those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements including, but not
limited to, the following:

> Qur revenue is generated from a limited number of clients and the loss of one or more of them, or a reduction in
their demand for our services, could materially affect our financial results.

> Circumstances outside our control such as typhoons, earthquakes and other acts of God, political instability,
equipment malfunction, telephone or data service interruptions, changes in the telecommunications market, war
and terrorism could seriously harm our domestic or off-shore business.

> Qur financial results depend on our ability to effectively manage the capacity of our domestic customer care
centers and the growth of our off-shore customer care centers.

> Qur inability to attract and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees could negatively impact our
business.

> Qur success is subject to the terms of our client contracts.

» Qur success depends on sustaining a return to profitability.

> Qur business operates in a highly competitive market.

> Our {inancial results may be affected by risks associated with international operations and expansion,

3> Qur business may be affected by our cash flows from operations and our ability to comply with our debt
covenants,

> QOur business and our clients’ businesses are subject to federal and state regulation and industry standards,
including laws and industry standards regarding consumer privacy and information security.
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> Qur success depends on key personnel.

v

Ouy principal shareholder can exercise significant control over the Company.

> Qur liquidity dnd ability to meet the terms of our current loan agreements could be materially affected should
we not prevail in our dlspute with the Internal Revenue Service.

More detailed dlscussmns of these risk factors can be found in Items 1A and Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K,

In various places throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K we use certain non-GAAP financial measures when
describing our performance. A * ‘non-GAAP financial measure” is defined as a numerical measure of a company ]
financial performance that excludes or includes amounts so as to be different than the most directly comparable
measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP in the statements of operations, balance sheets or
statements of cash flows of a company. We believe such non-GAAP financial measures are informative to the users
of our financial information. We discuss non-GAAP financial measures in Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Non-GAAP Financial Measures.” Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation G, we have provided a
reconciliation of all non-GAAP financial measures not previously reconciled to the most directly comparable
GAAP financial measure in Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




Item 1. Description of Business.

General Overview ) :

The Company is a leadmg provider of customer care services and solutions to ‘market leaders in the healthcare,
communications, business services, financial services, publishing, and travel and entertainment industries. We
operate eight customer care centers in the United States, one of which is a client-owned facility and three off-shore
customer care centers in the Philippines. One of our off-shore centers is a temporary facility pending completion of
our third center in Cubao, Quezon City, the Philippines. As of December 31, 2006, the domestic operations
consisted of approximately 4,700 workstations and the off-shore operations consisted of approximately 2,100
workstations.

Our principal executive office is located at Six Parkway North, Deerfield, IHinois 60015 and the telephone number
at that address is (847) 374- 4980

a

From 1995 through 2000, we expenenced rapid growth, followed by a decline in business from 2000 through 2005.

During both of these periods, we offered inbound customer care and outbound customer acquisition services to our
clients. The principal factors that led to the decline included a 'reduction in volume from several key clients, industry
trends towards off-shore outsourcing, and pricing pressures resulting from increased competmon in, and regulatory
factors affecting, the outbound customer acquisition business. :

Busines_s Turnaround
Refocusing Our Strategy

In early 2004, we began to take steps to turn around our business. At that time, we made a strategic decision to focus
on competing more successfully in the customer care segmeént of our industry and reduce our reliance on revenues
from outbound customer acquisition programs. We belicved then as we do now that the customer care segment
offers tremendous opportunities to grow our business, improve our profitability, and strengthen the relationships we
have with our core clients. To compete successfully in the customer care segment, we needed to change our business
model and demonstrate to our clients and prospective clients that not only could we serve their customers more cost
effectively than they could internally, but that we could serve them with a hlgher level of quality. To successfully
position ourselves to deliver on this new strategic dll’CCthn we upgraded our technology infrastructure and core
business apph_cauons to provide ,enterpnse standardlzauon realigned and invested in our sales and account
management teams, and developed a rigorous implementation process to ensure successful iaunches of new client
applications. N

Having stabilized the business and solidified key customer relationships, in July 2005, we announced our strategic
reallgnment to exit our outbound customer acquisition business, focus our resources on inbound client relationships
in a limited number of key. industries, improve near-term financial perforrnance and posmon ourselves for long-
term growth and profitability. During 2005, we exited virtually all of our outbound customer acquisition business
and restructured operations by closing a mgmﬁcant number of domestic customer care centers fc_)cuse.d primarily on

outbound customer services.
1 ! . f ' B . -

Completing our Strategic Realignment

As we entered 2006, we remained committed to providing quality services, optimizing our operations, improving
cash flow and returning our business to profitability. Expanding.our higher margin off-shore business, streamlining
our domestic capacity and better leveraging our fixed costs were all critical components of reaching this goal To
that end, in 2006, we: .

> Expanded our off-shore capacity in the Philippines by opening a second facility and leasing space in a temporary
site pending completion of construction of a third location, that is a 2,000 seat famhty that is cxpcctcd to open
late in the first or early in the second quarter of 2007; -
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> Improved our labor model and compensation programs to enhance our ability to attract and retain quality
customer service representatives;

> Increased our atHOME™ agent program to provide an alternative for those qualified employees that have a need
or desire for a more flexible schedule and to improve our ability to manage productivity; and,

> Worked with the Customer Qperations Performance Center, Inc. (“COPC™), the industry leader in call center
standards, to audit our operational processes for adherence to our standards and provide recommendatioqs for
process xmprovements

During the third quarter of 2006, we completed our strategic reallgnment From January 2005 through October
2006, we closed 16 domestic customer care centers and exited approximately $39.8 million in outbound customer
acquisition business. During this same period, we aggressively grew our off-shore capacity in the Philippines and
increased our off-shore revenue. ’

Thi financial results of our strategic realignment were evident in our 2006 fourth quarter and fiscal year end results:

> Excluding revenue from the exited outbound customer acquisition business from fiscal year 2006 and 2005
results full year revenue increased $22.3 million or 11.1% to $223.4 rmlllon in fiscal year 2006;.

> Ongomg off-shore revenue grew 157% from $10. 9 million in fiscal year 2005 to $28.2 million in fiscal year
2006;

> Operating income for the 2006 fourth quarter was $1.5 million compared to a $4.5 million operating loss in the
comparable prior year quarter; and

> Income before taxes was $954,000 for the 2006 fourth quarter compared to a $4.9 million loss in the prior year
quarter.

See Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Item 1A of this Annua! Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Our success depends on sustaining a return to proﬁtablllty

N ¢

n + L]

Long Term Growth Strategy

s ) P a

As we move into 2007, we beliéve'we are well positioned to realize the long-term potential of our business and
capture the financial benefits of our higher margin business model. Our high level growth strategy is to aggressively
grow our higher margin off- shore business while contmumg to optimize the contribution of our domestic capacity.
During 2007, we intend to continue to focus on improving service quality, take additional steps to strengthen arid
expand our infrastructure in the Philippines, add resources focused solely 6n new client growth, begin explonng
daytime work opportunities in the Philippines; and'expand our atHOME™ model where appropriate.

Our Approach and Competitive Strategy ' Ct

3

Our focus is o 'provide customized, high quality customer care services and solutions to market leaders in the
healthcare, communitations, business services, ﬁnancial services, publishing, and fravel and entertainment
industries. By deﬁmtmn the services we provide are critical to our clients’ success and involve sngmﬁcant
integration with our clients’ information technology infrastructure.

We believe this approach will enable us to build stronger, long-term partnerships with our clients resulting in
increased client retention and growth, and improved consistency of our revenue flow. The implications of our new
business model include certain challenges that are consistent with the customer care business, but are dramatically
different from the outbound customer acquisition business. The sales cycle is longer, sometimes as long as eighteen
months, and the applications we provide to our clients are’ considerably -more complex resulting in longer
implementation and ramp-up periods. As a résult, it takes longer to realize the full revenue and profit. potenual
of a new program or client.

We believe that service quality and value are critical factors in a client’s outsourcing decision. Qur sales and account
management teams are dedicated to prospecting and servicing-clients in each of our core industries. Focusing their
time and expertise on understanding a discrete industry or industries enables them to better understand our clients’
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needs. Our sales compensation model is designed to promote strong client relationships and company profitability.
We have created a sales culture aligned with our objective of building long-term profitable customer relationships
that deliver quality customer service and advance our clients’ business objectives.

While we believe service quality and value are the primary competitive factors, price is still a significant
consideration. We endeavor to meet client demand for a better educated, quality driven workforce at a lower
cost by leveraging our off-shore operations in the Philippines. Our approach to off-shore operations is to identify
international locations that have the language skills and education levels that support our desired quality of service.
By identifying those clients and client programs which would benefit from the specific skills available in the
Philippines, we believe we have created a lower cost solution to seamless quality service. We continuously evaluate
the most effective means of providing high quality, well priced services to our clients and will encourage them to
make use of our Philippines customer care centers if we believe they offer significant advantages to them. Our
revenue rates for services rendered in the Philippines are lower, but our profit margins are higher on this business.

Our Core Industries and Clients
Core Industries

As part of our strategy, we have targeted primarily high growth business segments, each with critical customer care
needs and businesses with unique opportunities for outsourced customer care. Our business model is to partner with
robust, growing businesses with leadership positions in their markets that place a premium on customer lovalty and
retention and consider high quality customer care programs an important competitive advantage. We have focused
on the following industries:

> Healthcare

> Communicattons

> Business Services

> Financial Services

> Publishing

> Travel and Entertainment

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, more than 95% of our revenue was generated from clients in our core
industries and more than 76% of our clients had annual revenue in excess of $1 billion and most hold leadership
positions in their industries.

Major Clients

Our ten largest clients collectively accounted for 88% of our revenue in fiscal year 2006. Three of our clients were
each responsible for 10% or more of our revenues: WellPoint: approximately 19.5%; Verizon Wireless: approx-
imately 17.4%; and United Parcel Services, Inc.: approximately 15.5%. In February 2007, we announced that we
had been selected by United Parcel Services, Inc. to manage its Tampa, Florida customer interaction center and to
provide costomer care management and related services there, beginning April 30, 2007. See Item 1A of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Our revenue is generated from a limited number of clients and the
loss of one or more of them, or a reduction in their demand for our services, could materially affect our financial
results.”

Seasonality

Due to the nature of certain clients” businesses we experience seasonality of revenues. In particular, our healthcare
industry clients’ call volumes experience seasonality, peaking during open enrollment and plan initiation periods,
typically in the fourth and first quarter of each fiscal year. In 2006, the Company supported approximately seven
months of enrollment activity for the start up of the Medicare Part D program. Future enrollment periods are
expected to be significantly shorter resulting in lower revenue for the Part D program. Our business services client
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also experiences peak processmg needs from November through December coinciding with the hohday Shlppll'lg
period. : '

Our Services

Qur services are provided through customer care centers staffed with skilled customer service representatives in
domestic, international and client-owned locations. Qur services are-highly customized customer care services and
solutions that involve communicating with customers and managing situations that are unique to each core industry.
We provide service through multiple communication channels, including land-based -and cellular phone, internet,
email, fax, mail correspondence and automated response gencrated through tcchnology We offer the following
services in each of our core cllem industries: . "

Healthcare ' - ) '

Within the healthcare industry, we offer customer service support for a wide variety of medical plans, including
pharmacy, medical, dental, vision and Medicare Part D, to plan members and healthcare plan providers alike. Qur
customer service representatives answer questions regarding healthcare members’ plan coverage, including
benefits and eligibility, claims processing, enrollment and plan comparisons, prescrlptlon coverage, and co-
payment determination, and prowde internet service help desk support and insurance and coverage application
assistance. For healthcare providers, our customer service representatives provide similar information regarding
member eligibility and benefits and claims processing. We also provide various healthcare clients with internal help
desk support and basic back office functions for their organizations.

Communications

Within the communications industry, we provide the following services: targeted inbound customer acquisition,
product sales, ongoing account maintenance, billing issue resolution, troubleshooting product issues, product set-up
services, and customer retention activities.

Business Services

Within the business services industry, we provide customer care services including delivery issue resolution,
business contact management and sales, member acquisition, account maintenance, bnllmg issue resolution,
research and trend analysis, troubleshooting, and claims processing.

Financial Services

Within the financial services industry, our services include assisting customers with card activation, credit i mqumes
billing issue resolution, account maintenance, balance increases and transfers, and balance inquiries.

Publishing L

Within the publishing indﬁsuy, we manage subscribér care by responding to customer inquiries 'regaréiing delivery,
scheduling and billing. We also offer our clients assistance in classified advertising sale$, readership data collecti'g')n
and subscription collections. -

Travel and Entertainment

For the travel and entertainment industry, we provide customer care services including reservation booking for
general and corporate travel, information on client resort properties, locations and amenities, cancellations, billing
and account management, loyalty club management, and complaint resolution.

Personnel and Training
o

Qur ability to attract, retain and develop our customer service representatives is critical to our success at delivering
quality customer service. We use a hiring model designed to select employees motivated to provide high-quality
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customer care services. We use our performance-management review process and pay-for-performance compen-
sation program to develop and motivate our employees.

We supply each new employee with extensive job skills training delivered in an interactive environment. Training
programs for front line teams are customized to client programs and teach specialized customer service skills. We
pr0v1de additional customer care trammg direct sales techniques, empathy training and telephone etiquette for all
of our customer service employees. In addition to training for specific job performance, our teams receive training
and reinforcement exercises on our company culture and its guiding values of honesty, integrity and respect for
others. In our off-shore facilities we also provide basic skills training, voice inflection training and education in
United States geography.

We also provide coaching, management and leadership training to front line supervisors. Our use of eWitness™
technology enables, our front line supervisors to provide coaching opportunities to representatives by direct
observation, as does our centralized guality function. See “Quality” and “Technology and Telecommunications.”

During 2006, our efforts were concentrated on refining our hiring model] and enhancing our recruitment capabilities
with a view toward attractmg and retammg the quality talent necessary to deliver-high quality customcr care
services.

4
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We had approximately 7,900 employees on March 1, 2007. None of our employees are subject to collective
bargaining agreements. See ltem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Qur inability to attract
and retain a sufficient number of qualified employees could negatively impact our business.”

Operai‘ions and Capacity Utilization |

Customer Care Centers ' , .

. : L, . \
At December 31, 2006, we operated eleven customer' care centers: seven domestic, one domestic client-owned
facility and three international centers located in the Philippines. This compares to thirteen customer care centers as
of January 1, 2006; eleven domestic, one domestic client-owned facility and one international center located in the
Philippines. During 2006, we closed 4 domestic customer care centers further reducing our domestic seat count and
allowing us to improve domestic capacity utilization and concentrate on our main business of value-added customer
care services and solutions. As a result of the shift in business demand for off-shore customer care services, we
opened a 450 seat second facility in the Philippines during the second quarter of 2006 and in the third quarter also
leased temporary space at a third site pending completion of a 2,000 seat third facility that we expect to open late in
the first or early in the second quatter of 2007 and build out to capacity over the balance of 2007. -

Customer care centers can be configured to spcciﬁc client needs and all centers have the capability to run 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week, and deliver customer care servmes across multiple contact channels, including telephone,
internet, email, correspondence and facsimile. We expect to continue to expand our off-shore capacity as a key
component of our growth stratcgy See Item 2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Propemes

Can '

Capac:ry and Workfome Managemem
Our profitability is influenced significantly by our ablllty to effectively manage our production capacity. We closely
monitor the capacity utilization of our customer-care centers and balance the costs associated with maintaining
excess capacity with the fleibility needed.to quickly respond.to incremental client demands.

i . . . L

We use eWFM™, a leading workforce administration platform. This platform allows us to more effectively manage
our employees’ time and quickly respond to changing client needs. See “Technology and Telecommunications —
Operatmg Systcms and Tclephony ” We manage our capac:ty and human resources hollstlcally by .

> Co-locanng call receipt patterns that are counter cyclical to create efﬁcmnmes and improve work load balance
and resource utilization. :




> Building innovative staffing and workforce ramp-up capabilities and using gtHOME™ agents for added
scheduling flexibility; and :

> Increasing overall capacity. through a detailed analysis of anticipated demand,

See Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Our financial results depend on our ability to
effectively manage the capacity of our domestic customer care centers and the growth of our off-shore customer
care centers.”

Operational Leadership and Disciplines

Our operations leadership has extensive experience in call center and customer care services management. We are
continually investing in the management training and personal development of our leadership. Real time perfor-
mance reporting and frequent productivity and. quality audits enhance both team and individual performance.

We catalogue and document our core operations practices and procedures. During 2006, we engaged COPC to
review and certify audit procedures for each of these practices. Self-audits are conducted on a regular basis to ensure
consistent implementation of our practices across all of our customer care centers. In addition, COPC will
independently audit and validate every customer care centers’ compliance with Company procedures.

Program Implementation

We use an integrated team of professionals to manage the implementation and expansion of client programs. This
team is led by a project manager and includes subject matter experts from operations, information technology,
human resources, training, quality, sales and account management and compliance. The implementation team
serves as the primary interface with our clients’ own implementation resources, gets involved early in the creation of
detailed project plans, and is responsible for end-to-end implementation. In addition, we typically provide
additional front line supervisors at the outset of a new program to ensure smooth program start-up. The progress
of each implementation project is reviewed with our senior executive team on a weekly basis.

Quality

We believe our ability to retain existing clients and to acquire new clients is directly related to the quality of the
services we provide. Our customer service representatives have direct contact with our clients’ customers and help
form an impression of our clients’ commitment to quality service. We believe these contacts are a critical
component to our clients’ long-term success and are committed to optimizing the level of quality service provided
to our clients’ customers.

We utilize eWitness™, a quality monitoring system, across all of our custom-er, care centers. We have a centralized
quality assurance organization which provides independent, ongoing assessments of program quality through direct
monitoring of our customer service representatives’ interactions with customers. We follow a comprehensive
quality calibration process, which helps ensure that our representative monitoring and feedback stays aligned with
our clients’ view of quality.

We use a compensation model that rewards front line teams on quality and continuous improvement. Front line
managers at every customer care center are required to monitor every customer service representative at least twice
per week and provide coaching sessions designed to contineously improve performance. Additionally, we utilize
verification recording technologies and separate teams validate customers’ approvals and buying commitments for
certain programs.

We also regularly measure the quality of our services by benchmarking such factors as client satisfaction, customer
service levels, average handle times, first call resolution, and average speed of answer. We provide site operations
management and clients with status reports on a real-time basis and can transmit summary data and captured
information electronicaily to our clients. This data enables us to quickly modify or enhance ongoing services to
improve quality and effectiveness.
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Technology and Telecommunications ¢ - .
. t - c . N ‘Y [

As an integral part of refocusing our strategy on customer care services and solutions, we partnered with industry

leaders like Avaya, Hewlett Packard, Witness Systems and BEA to upgrade our technology. We invested in our

information technology infrastructure and core business applications in order to provide enterprise.standardization.

We also invested in our application and integration tools to enable us to develop customer solutions where we share

more customer mformanon and msrght ' : ' b :

We continue to invest in technology in order to expand our capacity, update and enhance our internal capabilities,
and continue to provide reliable voice and data networks, operational support systems and customized application
solutions to our clients. We continue to invest in both establmhed and emergmg call center technologres in order to
fully’ opumlze our operational performance and quallty :

- . - P N

Customer Care Applications .

Our technology strategy is to contmually upgrade our capabllltres within our flexible and robust multr-channel
technology solution. Each application is customized to efficiently manage the unique customer mqumes that occur
in our core industries .and meet market specrallzauon channel specific needs and complex archrtecture/process
integration. :

1 L

We maintain open system—-client server platforms in which we develop customized (multi-channel) application
solutions (e.PAC™) for our clients. Developed on third party commercially available platforms, we maintain a
library of reusable, proprietary code to develop new client solutions. We have also invested in open system
integration layers (third party middleware) that allow us to integrate our solutions with .our clients’ systems
infrastructure. These solutions allow for enhanced information exchange with our cl1ents which improves overall
performance and results in an enhanced customer experience.

We have developed a fully mtegrated web based reporting system (Insrght ). The tool prOVides real-time and
historic productivity data from a secure site and communicates the data within a comprehensive set of detailed
interaction reports. Reporis are also routinely customized, leveragmg internal and client-based data to meet
individual clients’ requirements.

Opera.rmg Sysrems and Te!ephony

' ' - L 1 ' s
We use operatlonal support systems that we deploy in each of our customer care centers, We use eWFMTM
workforce management system, to maximize our ability to forecast interaction volumes, schedu]e customer service
representauves and monitor adherence to scheduled hours in order to meet fluctuatmg ‘client ne:.ds We also deploy
eWitness™ as our quahty assurance platform. We belicve these platforms, in concert with internally. developed best
practices, improve our ability to provide high quality and efficient services to our clients.

We deploy VOIP (voice over internet protocol) technology to support both our domestic and international advanced
routing requircments. The investment in this flexible, scaleable and cost effective technology improves our
implementation responsiveness to client requirements. This technology also enables us to increase capacrty
utilization by effectively balancing call demands across greater multiple call centers. '

We are currently investing in technologies associated with supporting an expanded atHOME™ agent program: We
believe we can enhance workforce optimization and improve quality on certain programs by using agents that work
from their own homes. We have built an internal infrastructure to support this program and provide all of the
necessary equipment to agents we deploy in this fashion. All supporting systems have been fully integrated to
ensure synergy with-our customer care center operations. : PR

We also maintain a number of internal systerné to support our business. Anchored by a commercially available
enterprise financial platform, we use a combination.of internally developed and third party add-on systems to
measure our business. We have made significant efforts to build and maintain systems and processes that ensure
regulatory compliance at a1l levels of the organization. . ‘ . C ’
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We contract with multiple, well-established leading providers for nationwide voice and data services. We currently
obtain pricing based on volume comn'utmems obligating us to pay for a minimum usage regardless of whether such
minimum services are used. o

L .
E

System Architecture and Redundancy

Our total systems archrtecture incorporates advanced swntchmg technolog1es mteractwe voice response speech
recognition, email, chat, web collaboration, facsimile, customer relationship management solutions, knowledge
tools, quality, workforce management and reporting platforms. These tools are used to customize specific solutions
for our clients offering them a comprehensive set of customer care solutions.

All of the above solutions are supported by a number of back-end producnon systems that consohdale process, and
transfer data. These proprietary, back-end systems run primarily in a Sun, HP and Dell environment and have been
built with significant resource effort over a number of years. A technology recovery plan has been developed to
address interruptions in voice and data services and equipment malfunctions and is tested regularly. We also develop
and maintain technology continuity plans for clients which are tailored to their unique requirements. Additionally,
we maintain 4 fully redundant voice and data infrastructure supporting our operations and linking us to our clienits.

See Item 1A of this Annual Report ont Form 10-K under the caption “Circumstances outside our control such as
typhoons, earthquakes and other acts of God, political instability, eqmprnent malfunction, telephone or data service
interruptions, changes in the telecommunications market, war and terrorism could seriously harm our domestic or
off-shore business.”

Client Relationships '

We provide services to our clients under written contracts whxch generally provide for engagements of one'to three
years. Most contracts permit cliénts to terminate for convenience on short notice. Few, however, provide us with a
similar right to terminate without cause. Many contracts for customer care services require adherence to a
terrmnauon schedule allowing for the gradual reduction of services over a three-month to s1x -month penod We
have, however historically establlshed long-term relatlonshlps with many of our clients.

Client contracts require that we bill for our services based on time spent by customer service representatives or on a
per call or per transaction basis. Time can be billed by the hour or phone minute. Billing for phorie minutes of
service, which is increasingly common in the industry, requires greater customer service representative productivity
to achieve an equivalent hourly rate. Billing on a per call or per transaction basis shifts additional operational risk to
us, since managing the duration of each call is critical to achieving efficiency under this pricing method.

We are generally subject to varying ‘client qualfty and performance' standards, such as average handle time,
occupancy rate, abandonment rate, call quality, and customer satisfaction. Our performance against such standards
may provide bonus opportumtles or, conversely, may sub_lect us to penalties. See Item 1A of thls Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Our success 1s‘sub3ee‘t to the terms of our client contracts.”

Competition : : .

We operate in a fragmented and highly competitive growing market. Qur eompetitors range in size from small firms
offering specialized applications to large, publlcly-traded firms that have more financial resources. Qur competitors
also include clients or potential clients that provide their own customer care services internally.

‘We beélieve that the prinéipal competitive factors in the industry are cost of services, service quality, the ability to
develop and implement ‘quility, customized products and services quickly, technotogical expertise, performance
against client metrics, strength of relationship, and management credibility and réputation. Other competitive
factors include scalability, efficiency and productivity. We believe that the companies that succeed are companies
that build strong client relationships and are able to successfully deliver quality customer services and solutions that
prowde real value, furtherlng their cllents progress toward business goals )

in our opinion, several significant factors impact the current competitive environment: (1) mtenmfymg competition
is putting pressure on clients and prospective clients to provide higher quality customer service while containing
costs and improving margins; (2) outsourcing is becoming more prevalent and accepted in our core industries as
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threshold concerns regarding customer privacy and information security have been addressed; (3) the growth in off-
shore capacity, which offers lower pricing than domestic capacity, largely due to the cost of labor differential; and
(4) technology advances. Such factors, when combined, are causing clients and prospective clients to demand more
competitive pricing and hlgher quality service. See Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form IO—K under the captlon
“QOur business operates in a highly competitive market.”

According to a report published by Friedman, Billings, Ramsey & Co., Inc. in June 2006, customer care outsourcing
accounted for only 17% of an approximately $300 billion worldwide market for contact centers. In-house
telemarketing, customer refationship management and customer service organizations comprise by far the largest
segment of the industry. As adoption of outsourcing continues to grow in popularity and demand for services
increases, customer care centers continue to diversify into other areas of business to increase the utilization of their
infrastructures such as adding services that can be provided during nighttime hours in countries that coincide with
the United States’ daytime. Non-traditional industries, such as healthcare, retail, government, and financial services
continue to show a willingness to adopt outsourcing services resulting in the need for additional customer care
provider capacity.

Customer care services are also being provided off-shore in several markets, with the Philippines being one of the
larger growth areas to deliver voice services due to its American educauon system and an accent-neutral labor pool.
India also remains a desired location although with a greater focus on back-office and non-voice communication.

The continued migration off-shore remains strong as these centers can provide customer care services at lower costs
and with a high-quality labor force.

€

Government Regulation and Industry Self-Regulation -

Our business is subject 1o varying degrees of governmental regulation. In addition, several of the industries in which
our clients operate are similarly regulated, particularly the healthcare, telecommunications, and financial services
industries. Federal and state laws governing consumer privacy, the collection, use and security of consumer data, the
use and disclosure of customer proprietary network information, the sale of insurance products, mortgage banking
activities and the operations of healthcare, pharmaceutical and gaming businesses impose regulatory and licensing
obligations on us. There are also self-imposed industry standards that apply to the use and security of certain
consumer data. In addition, both federal and state laws regulate telephone solicitations to residential customers.
Finally, our Part D Medicare enrollment and customer care programs are subject to the rules and rcgulanons of the
Center for Medicare Services.

Consumer Privacy and Information Security

Key federal laws regulating consumer privacy and information security include the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act,-the
Health Insurance Portability and Accountablhty Act (HIPAA) and the Telecommumcanons Act of 1996, In
addition, the Payment Card Industry Standards (PCI Standards) apply to' ‘the capture, sterage and transmission of
certain consumer credit card information.

-

Our healthcare clients are “covered entities” under HIPAA and are required to comply with standards for privacy,
transaction and code sets and data security. Due to the nature of our services, we are a “business associate” under
HIPAA. As a “business associate” we are requ1red to protect the security and privacy of “protected health
information” provided to our clients. .

Our telecommunications clients are subject to regulations governing the unauthorized disclosure of customer
proptietary network information. These regulations limit the disclosure of non-public customer information
regarding telephone services such as the type of service and usage and billing information. In providing services
to our telecommunications clients, we are required to comply with these regulations.

Many of our clients obtain payment for their services with credit cards. To the extent, our services to these clients
involve obtaining and processing credit card transactions, these activities are governed by the PCI Standards which
require us to maingain certain information security procedures.

There is increasing federal and state interest in privacy protections and information security, some aspects of which
could impose additional regulatory requirements on our clients’ businesses and, less directly, on our business.
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Licensing

We'and our employees who are involved in certain types of sales activities, such as the sale of insurance or certain
healthcare products, are required to be licensed by various state commissions or regulatory bodies and to comply
with regulations enacted by those entities. Other examples of activities requiring licensing include gaming,
pharmaceutical and mortgage banking activities.

Outbound Telemarketing Sales

On the federal level, both the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and the Federal Communications Comrnission
(FCC) regulate the initiation of telephone solicitations to residential telephone subscribers. Federal regulations
prohibit the use of deceptive, unfair and abusive telemarketing sales practices. States have also enacted and continue
to enact legislation governing telephone solicitations, which contain similar restrictions, as well as registration
requirements,

Compliance Activities

We have policies and procedures in place which are intended to meet the requirements of all applicable laws and
regulations that are material to our business. Companies that violate any of these laws or regulations may be subject
to enforcement actions, civil actions or private causes of action initiated by consumers as well as adverse publicity
which may damage their reputation.

See Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Ouvr business and our clients’ businesses are
subject to federal and state regulation and industry standards, including laws and industry standards regarding
consumer privacy and information security.”

Financial Information about Industry Segments

We have one reportable segment and, therefore, ali segment-related financial information required by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Relared
Information,” is included in the consolidated financial statements. The reportable segment reflects our operating
and reporting structure,

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). These filings are available to the public over the internet at the SEC’s website at
www.sec.gov, The documents we file with the SEC may also be read and copied at the SEC’s public reference room
located at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information regarding the SEC’s public
reference room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

We maintain a website with the address www.apaccustomerservices.com. We are not including the information
contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by reference.into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We
make available free of charge (other than an investor’s own internet access charges) through our website on the
“Investors” section our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
and amendments to these reports, as socn as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or
furnish such material to, the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk Relating to the Company and its Business

In addition to the risks and uncertainties of ordmary business operanons the followmg factors could cause actual
results to differ from expectations or have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, liquidity
or financial condition: :

Qur revenue is generated from a limited number of clients and the loss of one or more of them, or a reduction
in rhexr demand for our services, could marenally affect our financial results.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from a small number of clients. Most of our clients are concentrated
in the healthtare, communications, business services, financial services, publishing, and travel and entertainmeént
industries. There can be no assurance that we will not become more dependent on a few significant clients, that-we
will be able to retain any of our larger clients or maintain our current volume with these clients. Should we lose a
client or experience a reduction in demand for our services from a large client, we may not be able to replace such
clients or programs with clients or programs that generate a comparable amount of revenue or profits, Qur five
largest clients accounted for 69% of our fiscal year 2006 revenue, our ten largest clients accounted for 88% of our
fiscal year 2006 revenue and three clients each constituted 10% or more of our fiscal year 2006 revenue.
Cdnseqnently, the loss of one or more of our significant 'clients a significant downturn in any of ou'r core
industries, a trend in any of these industries to reduce their outsourced customer care services, or a change in the
customer relationship strategy of any of these clients or industries could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operanons liquidity and financial condition.

Circumstances outside our control such as typhoons, earthquakes and other dacts of God, political instability,
equipment malfunction, telephone or data service interruptions, changes in the telecommumcanons market,
war and terronsm could seriously harm our domestic or o_ﬁ’-shore business.

Qursuccess is dependent on the continued operation of our customer care centers. In the event of fire, power loss,
typhoon, earthquake or other natural disaster, political instability, and other similar events, the operation of one or
more customer care centers could be temporarily or permanently interrupted. If we experience a temporary or
permanent interruption at one or more of our customer care centers our business could be materially adversely
affected and we may be required to pay contractual damages to some clients or allow some clients to terminate or
renegotiate their contracts. Our Philippine operations are more at Tisk to adverse weather conditions, including
typhoons. We maintain property and business mterruptlon insurance, however, such i insurance may not adequately
ompensate for’ any losses we may incur. :

In addition, our business is materially dependent on telephone and data services provided by various local and long
distance telephone companies as well as our computer equipment, telephone systems and software. Because-of our
dependence on third party service providers, any change to the telecommunicaticns market that would disrupt these
services or limit our ability to obtain services at favorable rates could adversely affect our business, results.of
operations, liquidity and financial condition. Should we experience a significant increase in the cost of telephone
services or a temporary or permanent loss of .computer of telephone. equipment, systems or-services (through
casualty or operating malfunction), or should the security of our computer or telephone systems be compromised or
breached, our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition could be materially and adversely
affected. . ‘

The risks of war and potential terrorist attacks on our operations cannot be estimated. War and terrorist attacks could
disrupt operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial
condition. '

*

Our ﬁnancml results depend on our ability to effectively manage the capacny of our domesnc customer care
cemers and rhe gmwth ‘of our oﬁr ~shore customer care ceniers. ’

t

Our proﬁtablhty is influenced significantly by our customer care center capacnty utilization and the amount of
revenue generated in our off-shore centers. Capacity utilization may be affected at various times for several reasons
including client growth patterns, call patterns and seasonality, resulting in insufficient capacity to meet demand, or
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alternatively in idle capacity until new or expanded programs can be fully implemented: We also currently have
significantly higher utilization during weekdays.

. i . .' ‘ s .. - a4, i )

We periodically assess the long-term capacity utilization of our customer care centers, both domestically and off-
shore, inicluding the ablhty to accommodate new and expanded programs and clients, and make strategtc decisions
regarding the opefiing or expansion of customer care'centers. We are currently in the process of expandmg our

capacity in the Philippines in an effort to keep pace with client demand for off-shore services.

Thére can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve’ optrmum ut1llzatlon of our customer care center capacrty
or keep pace with the anticipated growth in demand for off-shore services. If we lose ohe or frore sxgmﬁcant clients,
if the volume of calls from clients declines, or a significant contract is not implemented-in the time frame or budget
anticipated due to lack of capacity, our business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition may be
materially and adversely affected. See Item 1 of this Annual Report on Eorm 10-K under the caption “Operations
and Capacity Utilization.” ety T Ce T P ;
. \ .. . N 'l ) . e
Our mabtlrty !0 attract. and retain a sufficient number of qualzf ed employees could. negarrvely impact our -
business. . P . ' B RO

Our mdustry is very labor intensive and has experienced h1gh personnel tumover Many of our employees recelve
modest hourly wages and a s1gmﬁcant portion of our costs con51st of wages to hourly workers An increase in hourly
wages costs of employee benefits, employment taxes or recrumng and training costs Could have a matenal adverse

effect on our business, results of operations, 11qu1d1ty and ﬁnancnal cond1t10n
N ! e . 1

Complex technology-based inbound customer service involves extensive training and requires specra]ly trained
employees. Growth in our busmess will require us to recruit and train quahﬁed personnel atan accelerated rate from
time to time. A hlgher turnover rate among our employees would increase our recruiting and training costs and
decrease operating efficiencies and productivity. There can be no assurance that we will be able to hire, train and
retain a sufficient labor force of qualtﬁed employees: See Item ] of:this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the
captlon' “Personnel and Training.” . N . b .

o ‘L . _—

Our sticcess is subjecr lo the terms of our client contracts:” ... . s 0 - : ’ ’

We provide sew1oes to our chents under contracts many of which’ may be termmated by the client (but not by us) for
convemence In addition, most of our contracts do not have mlmmum volume requlrements and the proﬁtab111ty of
each client program may fluctuate, sometimes significantly, throughout various stages of a a program. Certam
contracts have performance-related bonus and/or penalty provisions, whereby the client may pay us a bonus or we
may have to issue a credit based upon our meeting, or failing to meet. agreed-upon service levels and performance
metrics. There can be no assurance that our clients will not. terminate their contracts .before their. scheduled
expiration date, that the volume of services for these programs will not be'reduced or that we will be able to avoid
penalties or earn-performance bonuses. In addition, there can be no assurance.that each client program will be
profitable for us or that we will be able to terminate unprofitable client relationships without incurring significant
liabilities. The loss of one or more of our significant clients, the substantial reduction of.the amount of services we
perform for a significant client, the payment of penaities for failure to meet performance metrics, or our inability to
terminate an unprofitable client contract could have a material adverse effect on our business; results of operations,
liquidity, and financial condition. See Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Client
Relationships.”

1 ! ‘., - : - 2 " T ' f1, : T : o

Our success depends on' sustaining a return to profitability. ‘ e .‘
In early 2004, we began to take a number of steps to turn around our business and in July 2005 we announced our
strategic realignment. that was completed in third quarter of 2006, We made a strategic decision to change our
business model from outbound customer acqursmon services to inbound customer care services, to strearnllne our
domestic customer care center capacity and to aggressively grow our off-shore capacity. ‘While results from
implementing these changes have been encouraging, there can be no assurance that these trends will continue or that
we will be able to sustain a return 1o profitability. Failure to realize continued improvements in revenue, gross profit

margins, capacity utilization and. operating expenses could materially adversely-affect our business, results of
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operations, liquidity, and financial condition. See Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Business Turnaround” and Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our business operates in a highly competitive market.

We operate in a highly competitive growing market and such competition may intensify in the future, Our
competitors range in size from small firms offering specialized applications to large, publicly-traded firms
operating in the broader business process outsourcing market. Qur competitors also include clients and potential
clients who provide their own customer care services internally. Many of our competitors have greater resources and
capabilities than we do. In addition, market factors are causing clients and prospective clients to demand more
competitive pricing and higher quality service. See Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Competition.” There can be no assurance that we can successfully compete in this environment.

Our ability to develop and implement quality, customized products and services is highly dependent on our
computer and telecommunications equipment and software capabilities. We anticipate that it will be necessary to
continue to select, invest in and develop new and enhanced technology on a timely basis in the future in order 1o
maintain our competitiveness. Our future success will depend in part on our ability to continue to invest in and
develop information technology solutions that keep pace with evolving industry standards and changing client
demands. There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient expertise or capital to meet this challenge or that
the technologies developed by our competitors will not render our products and services obsolete. See Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Technology and Telecommunications™ and Item 7 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Liquidity and Capital ‘Resources — Future Liquidity.”

Further, we believe several other factors may affect the demand for our services. The increased use of new
telephone-based technologies, such as interactive voice response systems, and increased use of the internet could
reduce the demand. for certain of our customer care offerings. In addition, there is increasing political concern
regarding the movement of service jobs off-shore, which could result in potentially adverse legislation, and there
can be no assurance that we will be able to anticipate and successfully respond to all such trends in a timely manner.

Competitive pressures and changing market conditions could cause our services to lose market acceptance or, result
in significant price and margin erosion which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, liquidity or financial condition.

Our financial results may be affected by risks associated with international operations and expansion.

We intend to continue to expand and pursue opportunities for our off-shore customer care centers in the Philippines
and may consider other international locations. There are certain risks inherent in conducting business interna-
tionally, including exposure to currency fluctuations, the necessity to comply with foreign laws, unexpected
changes in foreign laws and regulations, difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, foreign political
instability, changes in clients’ sourcing preferences and potentially adverse tax conseguences.

In particular, we serve an increasing number of U.S. clients from our customer care centers in the Philippines.
Contracts with these clients are typically priced in U.S. dollars while costs incurred in operating the centers are
denominated in'the Philippine peso, which presents a foreign currency exchange risk to us, the amount of which
increases as our off-shore operations continue to grow.

There can be no‘assurance that one or more such factors will not have a material adverse effect on our international
operations and, consequently, on our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Our business may be affected by our cash flows from operations and our ability to comply with our debt
covenants.

Our cash flow is significantly impacted by our ability to collect our clients’ accounts receivable on a timely basis. To
the extent that our business with a single client or small group of clients represents a more significant portion of our
revenue, a delay in receiving payment could materially adversely affect the availability of cash to fund operations,
thereby increasing our reliance on borrowings under our current loan agreements.
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Our current loan agreements provide the Company with a $27.5 million revolving loan facility which expires in
October 2010 (the “Revolving Credit Facility™) and a $15 million term loan which matures in January 2011 (the
“Term Loan”.) Our ability to borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility depends on the amount of eligible
accounts receivable from our clients and there are limitations on the concentration of these accounts with a single
client. In addition, our lender retains certain reserves against otherwise available borrowing capacity, including a
reserve related to the Internal Reveiiue Services’ proposed adjustment to our 2002 tax return which is described
below. Our current loan agreemerits'require us to comply with certain financial and othér covenants, including
limitations on our ability to make capital expenditures, incur additional indebtedness, repurchase outstanding
common shares, create liens, acquire; sell or dispose of certain assets, engage in certain mergers and acquisitions,
pay-dividends and make certain restricted paymients. These limitations may affect our liquidity and'limit our ability
to make cépital expenditures. In addition, our failure to adhere to the financial and other covenants could give rise to
a default under the loan agreements. There can be no assurances that we will be able to meet the financial and other
covenants in our loan agreements or, in the event of non- compllance that we will be able to obtain warvers or
amendments from our lenders. '

In October 2003, we received an $116 million cash tax refund associated with the write-off for tax purposes in 2002
of our remaining investment in ITI Holdmgs Inc. (“ITI™). The Internal Revenue Service has audited our 2002 tax
return and proposed an adj ustment that would disallow. this deduction. We beheve that we have sufficient support
for the deductlon and intend to pursue our avallable remedies. On November 30, 2005 we filed a protest contestmg
the Pproposal adjustmem and requesting a heanng w1th an Internal Revenue Service Appeals Ofﬁcer At this point, it
is unclear as to how this issue will uitimately be resolved Although we ‘have not recogmzed the income tax bénefit
related to this deduction and have previously recorded a liability for the amount of the refund, should we not prevail
in this matter, we may be required to pay some or all of the previously received refund of $11.6 million, as well as
interest related. thereto. The timing,of any repayment of the previously received refund could have :a material
adverse effect on our liguidity, require us to seek additional financing to fund the repayment, and result in a default
under our loan agreements. There can be no assurance that we will be able to get access to the necessary funds on
acceptable terms. ¢ C N - :

A significant change in operating cash flow, a failure to sustain profitability or an adverse outcome in our pending
dispute with the Internal Revene Service could have a material advérse éffect on our liquidity cmd our ability to
comply with the covenants in the loan agreements. ‘

[ " . 1) . cr ) [hl ! L )
Our business and our clients’ businesses are subject to federal and state regulation and industry standards,
mcludmg laws and industry standards regardmg consumer prrvacy arta’ mformatton security. '
Our business is subject to varying degrees of governmental regulation. In addmon several of the industries in which
our ‘clients operate are similarly regulatéd, particularly in the ‘telecommunications, healthcare, and’ financial
services industries. Finally, certain of- our activities are subject to self-regulatory standards established by the

industries in which our clients _operate. ) .
: . Cor !

Federal and state laws governing consumer pnvacy, the collection and use of consuinér data, the use and disclosure
of customer proprietary nétwork information, the sale of i insurance products mortgage banking act|v1t1es and the
operations of healthcare, pharmaceutical and gaming businesses, and industry standards regarding the security of
credit, card, information, impose regulatory and licensing obligations on us. In addition, federal and state laws
regulate telephone solicitations to consumers. Finally, our Part D Medicare enrollment and customer care programs
are subject to the rules and regulations of the Center for Medicare Services. See ftem 1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the captio.n “Government Regulation rmd Industry Self-Regulation.”

There can be no assurance that we will not be subject to agency or state proceedings alleging violation of such laws.
We also could be subjéct to a vartety of enforcement or private actions due to our failure or the failure of our clients
to comply with such regulations or industry standards. Additionally, any violation or alleged violation of consumer
privacy laws or any failure oralleged failure to maintain the secunty of consumer information could be harmful to
our reputation and negatively impact our business. . . e :
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Future laws, regulations and industry standards may require us to modify our operations or service offerings in order
to effectively meet our clients’ service requirements, and there can be no assurance that additional regulations
would not limit our activities- or significantly increase the costs of compliance. :

There is increasing federal and state interest in further regulation of consumer privacy, information security and the
regulation of the movement of service jobs off-shore, some aspects of which could impose additional regulatory
pressure on our clients’ businesses and, lcss directly, on our busmess Addmona] regulation in these areas could
reduce the demand for our services.

Our success depends on kev.personnel.

Our success depends in large part upon the abilities and continued service of our executive officers and other key
employees. There can be no assurance that we will be able to attract, motivate and retain the services of such officers
and employees. The loss of key personnel could have a material advcrse effect on our business, results of operations,
llqdety and financial condition.

Our principal shareholder can exercise significant control over the- Company.

Mr. Theodore G. Schwartz, our Chairman, and four trusts and a partnership established by Mr. Schwartz collectively
own approximately 50% of our outstanding common shares. As a result, Mr. Schwartz is able to exercise significant
control over the outcome of substantially all matters requiring action by our shareholders. Such voting concen-
tration may have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control.

.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.

. ! ) [
As of December 31, 2006, our corporate headquarters was located in Deerfield, Illinois in leased facilities
consisting of 23,460 square feet of office space rented under a lease that expires in August 2008. We also lease an
additional 67,940 square feet at this 'localion of which 20,480 square feet is subleased to a third party and the
remaining space is currently unoccupied. Our data center is located within our 55,000 square foot facility in Cedar
Rapids, lowa. We owned this facility until October 10, 2006 at which time the property was sold in a'sale-leaseback
transaction that resulted in a net gain of $0.8 million. In accordance with SFAS No. 28 “Accounting for Sales with
Leaseback”, the gain will be deferred and amortized over terms from six months to ten years based on the individual
lease-back agreements.

We lease all of the other facilities used in our operations on what we believe are commercially reasonable terms. The
leases for our facilities generally have terms ranging from one to ten years and typically contain renewal options.
We believe that our existing facilities are suitable and adequate for our current operations, but additional facilities
may be required to support our growth, We believe that suitable additional or alternative space will be available as
needed on commercially reasonable terms.

As of December 31, 2006, we operated customer care centers and workstations in the following locations:

, Number of

Customer Care Center Locations Workstations
TUCSON, ATIZONA. . .t ittt ittt it it e " 669
Davenport, [owa. . ... i i e e e e 667
Cedar Rapids, Towa .......... ... ... . .. .. 388
Utica, New York . ... .. ... . .. i 379
Corpus Christi, Texas . . .. ... ... ... . i it i 798
Newport News, Virginia (clientowned). ..................... 810
Green Bay, Wisconsin . ....... ... .. ... .. ... ... . .. ... 669
LaCrosse, WISCONSIN . . ..o ittt ittt et e vt 350
Total US .« ... e 4,730
Alabang, Muntilupa City, Philippines .. ..................... 1,306
Alabang, Muntilupa City, Philippines .. ...... ... ... ... .... 410
Eastwood City, Quezon City, Philippines (temporary facility). . . . . . 382
Total Philippines. . .. ... .. ... . ... . . ., 2,098
Total all Costomer Care Center Locations . . ................ 6,828

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are subject to lawsuits, governmental investigations and claims arising out of the normal conduct of our
business. We do not believe that the outcome of any pending claims will have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition. Although we do not believe that any such proceeding
will result in a material adverse effect, no assurance to that effect can be given,

See Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Liquidity and Capital Resources — IT! Tax
Matters™ for a discussion of our dispute with the Internal Revenue Service.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders,
None.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant : o

Our executive officers are as follows: .. - & . 0 .. . e - . Lot
Name é_g Position )
] Robert AR Keller, ........ e L 53 Presrdent and Ch1ef Executlve Officer
Joseph R. Dool(m ....... P .43 Vice Presrdent and Controller ‘ o
George H. Hepburn I .. ....... .. .. 47 Semor Vice Presrdent and Chief
) Financial Officer _
. David ). LaBonte ................. 57 Senior Vice President, Operations s
James M. McClenahan:.. ... ..... ".. 48 - Senior Vice President, Sales and *' '~
. Marketing
o Mark'E. McDermott ... ... ..., ... 46 Senior Vice President and Chief .
o _ _ ~ Information Officer | .
Pamela R. Schneider . .............. 47 Senior Vice President, General
' L Counsel and Secretary
Karen R. Tulloch. ... ... .......... 50 Senior Vice President, Human -
- Resources ..

4 . . N . . vt

Robert J. Keller joined us as President and Chief Executive Officer in March 2004. Mr. Keller is also 2 Director of
the Conipany. From February 1998 until he joined us, Mr. Keller served in various capacities at Office Depot, Inc.,
most récently as Président, Business Services Group. Mr. Keller is a Director of ACCO Brands Corporation
Joseph R Doolan jOlIlCd ué IH January 2006 as Vlce Presrdent and Controller From April 2004 to January 2006,
Mr. Doolan was employed by, CNH Capital, where he held various positions, most recently Vice Presndent
Controller. Pnor to joining CNH. Capltal Mr. Déolan was Controller at GE Healthcare Financial Services from
2002- 2003 From 1995 2002 Mr. Doolan was employed by Heller, Fmanc1al Inc. where he held a variety of
ﬁnancral management posruons -
George H. He!pburn 111 Jomed us in September 2005 as Semor Vrce Pres:dent and Chief Fmancral Ofﬁcer From
1993 to April 2004, Mr. Hepbum was employed by Caremark Rx Inc. where he held a yariety of posmons most
recently Senior Vice President, Finance and Development. In the interim, Mr. Hepburn provrded financial
consulting services as an independent contractor.

David J. LaBonte, Senior Vice President, Operations joined us in April 1997 and was promoted to Senior Vice
President, Operations in July 2005 after having served in a variety of field operations positions of increasing
responsibility.

James M. McClenahan joined us in May 2004 as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing. From September 2002
10 May 2004, Mr. McClenahan was employed by Danka Office Imaging as President, Latin America Division. From
July 1996 to May 2002, Mr. McClenahan was employed by Office Depot, Inc., where he held various positions,
most recently Senior Vice President of Central Region Sales, Business Services Group.

Mark E. McDermott joined us in March 1996 and was promoted to Senior Vice President and Chief Information
Officer in April 2004.

Pamela R. Schneider, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, joined us in June 2005. From 1996 to
2005, Ms. Schneider was employed by Sears, Roebuck and Co. in a variety of legal positions, most recently as Vice
President, Deputy General Counsel — Retail Merchandising & Marketing.

Karen R. Tulloch joined us as Senior Vice President, Human Resources in June 2005. From 1979 to 2003,
Ms. Tulloch was employed by Sears, Roebuck and Co. in a variety of positions, most recently as Vice President,
Talent Acquisition.
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PART II Yo e ;

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder-Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securities.

Qur common shares are quoted on The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC under the symbol “APAC ”* The following
table sets forth, for the penods indicated, the high and low sale pnces of our common shares as reported on The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC durmg such perlods

High " Low
Fiscal Year 2006: . P A .
First Quarter .. .......... e e e $2.50, $1.65
Second Quarter . ............ Sl e e e et $2.30 $1.42
Third QUATTET . ... cte i e e ittt e ettt ndis, $2.06  ©$1.87
Fourth Quarter ........ PP P $3.84 $2.28
ST o High  Low
Fiscal Year 2005: . - PR e ) . e T
First Quarter . ............. e e e e e $2.00 31.13
Second Quarter .............. ... TR e _$131 5065
, JThird Quarter ....... 0. ...l ..... PR $127. $0.69 .
Fourth Quarter ............ e e P R - $191. . 8088 . |,

As of March 1, 2007, there were approx1mately 1,000 holders of record of our common shares. We did not pay any
dividends on common shares in fiscal years 2006 or 2005, nor did we repurchase any common shares. We currently
intend to Tetain future earnings to finance our growth and development and, therefore «do not anticipate paymg any
cash dividénds ‘or making purchases of any common shares in the foreseeable future In addmon our loan
agreémeénts restrict the payment ‘of cash dividends and the repurchase of common ‘shares. Sée Item 7 of this Anrtual
Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Liquidity and Capital Resources — Bank Fihancing.” Payment of any
future d|v1dends or purchases of any common shares will depend upon the future earnings and capital requirements
and other factors our Board of Directors considers appropriate. See Item 12 of this Annual Repon on Form lO K
under the captron' Equrty Compensatlon Plan Informauon
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The following graph sets forth a comparison of the cumulative total shareholder return on our commen shares for
the period beginning December 28, 2001, and ending December,29, 2006, as compared with the cumulanve total
return of the S&P 500 Index and a Peer Group Index. The Peer Group consists of: Convergys Corp VICT Gmup,
Inc., Sitel Corp., Starteck, Inc., Sykes Enterprlses Inc., and Teletéch Holdings, Inc. The total shareholder return for
each company in the Peer Group has been weighted according to the company’s stock market capitalization. This
graph assumes an investment of. $100 in each of our common shares, the S&P 500 Index and the Peer Group Index
on December 28, 2001, including reinvestment of dividends, if any. The stock price performance shown on the
graph below is not necessarily, indicative of future stock price performance.

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Among APAC Customer Services, Inc., The S&P 500 Index
- and a Self-Determined Peer Group

$200

$150 . - . —

$100

'$0 T T - T T T T
2 1272812001 12/27/2002 12/26/2003 12/31/2004 12/30/2005 12/29/2006 -

12/28/2001 | 12/27/2002 { 12/26/2003 | 12/31/2004 | 12/30/2005 | 12/29/2006
APAC Customer Services, Inc. 100.00 | 90.84 103.19 69.32 7291 | 14940
S&P 500 Stock Index ' 100.00 | 75.40 94.39 | 104.38 | 107.52 | '122.16
Self-Determined Peer Group 100.00 | 44.43 57.93 49.38 56.23 86.58

—0— APAC Customer Services, Inc. =2~ S&P 500 Stock Index ~—O— Self-Determined Peer Group
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

oo

The followmg unaudlled selected financial data should be read i in con_lunctlon with Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K and the Consolldated Financial Statements and the related notes appearing in ltem 8 of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.

Operating Data:
Net revenue

Cost of services

Grossprofit......................

Selling, general and administrative
" expenses(5)

Restructuring and other charges(2) . . .
Asset impairment charges(3)........

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income . . ...........
Other income ... ........ P
Interest expense, net. . . ...........
Income tax provision (beneﬁl)(4)

Net (loss) income

Net (loss) income per share:

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital (deficit). ..........

Capital expenditures....... S -

Total assets
Short-term debt

Long-term debt, less current
maturities. . . ... ... . ..,

Shareholders’ equity . . ... .........

For the Fiscal Years Ended(1)

December 31,
2006

January 1,
2006

January 2, December 28,

December 29,
2005 ' 2003

2002

(Dollars in thousands, except share data, statistical data and notes)

$224,297_“ §239,845 " $273,239 . $322852 $371,198
197,095 217,124 239,783 263,153 295,874
27,202 22,721 33,456 59,699 75,324
32,065 34,369 39,712 48,633 . 50,283
2,384 8216 1,873 3,238 8,139
— 10,886 2:234 420 1,005
34,449 53,471 43,819 52,291 59,427
(7,247) (30,750)  (10,363) 7,408 15,897
(101) (600) (361) (100) 47n
2,013 1,408 - 620 1,131 6,532
21380 . (9,160) (4,123) 2,038 3,218
$(30,539) $(22,398) $ (6499) § 4,339 $ 6,194
$ (062 $ (045 $ (013) $ 009 $ 013
$.(062 $ (©45 $ (©13) $ 009 $ 013
49,458 49,455 49,453 49,436 49,244
49,458 49,455 49,453 49,461 . 49,415
$ 1305 $ 960 $ 271 $ 11,428 $ 14,530
(16,679) (7,685) 8,511 15,681 37367
10,713 8,699 11,206 8,348 6,494
92,054 110,353 119,533 134,593 149,394
14,378 11,971 313 389 656
4,400 — — 313 28 872
23,306 51,874 74,163 80,730 76,427

See accompanying Notes to Selected Financial Data.
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Notes to Selected Financial Data - S : I

O

@

&)

4)

&)

We operate on a,52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday closest to December 31. All fiscal years

-presented were 52 weeks, except for fiscal year 2004 which ended on January 2, 2005. Fiscal year 2004 was

53 weeks. The effect of the additional week in fiscal year.2004 was to increase revenues and gross profit by
$4.1 million and $87,000, respectively and to increase operating loss by $336,000.

‘The fiscal years presented are as follows:

Fiscal Year . ' " Fiscal Year End
2002 ..., DU T i ..... December 29,2002
2003 .. ... e Ve e e e December 28, 2003
2004 L e e e e e e s January 2, 2005
L January 1, 2006
2006 . . e December 31, 2006

We recorded restructuring charges in each of the fiscal years presented in the “Selected Financial Data” table
noted above. For fiscal- years 2006, 2005 and 2004, see Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item-8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: for more information. In fiscal year 2003, we
recorded $3.4 million of restructuring charges, partially offset by the reversal of $0.1 million in prior year
charges not utilized. The 2003 restructuring charges consisted of $2.8 million in severance costs related to the

‘elimination of administrative and support positions and $0.6 million for the write-off of property and ledse

termination and other costs associated with the closure of five customer care centers. We recorded $8.4 million
of restructuring charges in fiscal year 2002, partially offset by the reversal of $0.3 million in prior year charges
not utilized. The 2002 restructuring charges consisted of $5.8 million for the write- off of property and lease
termination and other costs associated with the closure of sixteen customer care centers and the transition of one
customer care center under a facility management contract and $2.6 million in severance costs related to thf:
elimination of admlmstratlve and support positions.

We recorded $lO.9 million of asset impairment charges in fiscal year 2005, including a write-down of goodwill
of $10.5 million. We recorded $2.2 million of asset impairment charges during fiscal year 2004 relating to the
write-off of unutilized sofiware and telecommunications equipment. Fiscal year 2003 asset impairment charges
of $0.4 million related to the write-off of certain software licenses and computer hardware. Asset impairment
charges in fiscal year 2002 of $1.0 million related to the write-off of certain non-performing IT hardware and
software costs and certain telecommunications equipment.

We provided a valuation allowance of $25.2 million against deferred tax assets as of Deceimber 31, 2006. See
Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Fmancnal Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10- K for
more information.

LA + i

Effective January 2, 2006, we adoptéd FASB Statement No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment”
(SFAS No. 123(R)). Sce Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statéments in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for more information. Total stock-based compensation expense included in selling,
general and administrative expenses was $1.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, The
recognized tax benefit was $0.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

A
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financiat statements and accompanying notes which appear in Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our management’s disciission and analysis contains certain “forward-looking
statements.” All forward-looking statements are infierently uncertain as they are based on various expectations and
assumptions about future events and are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties, and other factors
that may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or
implied by the forward-looking statements. For an explanation of certain factors that could prevent us from
achieving our goals and cause future results to differ materially from historic results or those expressed or implied
by our forward-looking statements see Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Background

The Company is a leading provider of customer care services and solutions to market leaders in the healthcare,
communications, business services, financial services, publishing, and travel and eatertainment industries. We
operate eight customer care centers in the United States, one of which is a client-owned facility and three off-shore
customer care centers in the Philippines. One of our off-shore centers is a temporary facility pending completion of
our third center in Cubao, Quezon City. As of December 31, 2006, the domestic operations consisted of
approximately 4,700 workstations and the off-shore operations consisted of approximately 2,100 workstations.

From 1995 through 2000, we experiehced rapid grthh followed by a decline in business from 2000 through 2005.
In early 2004, we began to take steps 1o turn around our business. At that time, we made a strategic decision to focus
on competing more successfully in the customer care segment of our industry and reduce our reliance on revenues
from outbound customer acquisition programs. To compete successfully in the customer care segment, we needed
to change our business model and demonstrate to our clients and prospective clients that not only could we serve
their customers more cost effectively than they could internally, but that we could serve them with a higher level of
quality. To successfully position ourselves to deliver on this new strategic direction we made significant investments
in our technology infrastructure and core business applications to provide enterprise standardization; realigned and
invested in our sales and account management teams; and developed a rigorous implementation process to ensure
successful taunches of new client applications.

2005 Strategic Realignment

Having stabilized the business and solidified key customer relationships, in July 2005, we announced our strategic
realignment to exit our outbound customer acquisition business, focus our resources on inbound client relationships
in a limited number of key industries, improve near-term financial performance and position ourselves for long-
term growth and prdﬁtability In 2005, we exited virtually all of our outbound customer acquisition business
resulting in a reduction in annual revenues of approximately $38.8 million and restructured operations by closing
twelve domestic customer care centers (including space located in our corporate offices in Deerfield, Illinois)
focused primarily on cutbound customer acquisition services. During the second half of 2005, we began preparing
for the launch of the initial enroliment period for our Medicare Part D business which occurred in November, 2005.
As a result, we continued to operate three of our outbound customer care centers primarily to service this new
inbound opportunity.

The restructuring and other charges that were taken in connection with the July 2005 strategic realignment totaled
$7.7 million. In addition, as a result of the July 2005 restructuring, we performed an interim impairment test of
goodwill in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 and recorded a $10.5 million asset impairment charge. See Note 7 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item § of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information.

We reported a $22.4 million loss for fiscal year 2005 which included the previously mentioned restructuring and
other charges and asset impairment charges.
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2006 Operating Results

As we entered 2006, we remained committed to providing quality services, optimizing our operations, improving
cash flow and returning our business to profitability. To that end, during 2006; we accelerated the growth of our
higher margin off-shore business and continued to optimize our domestic capacity. : D

We opened our second customer care center in the Philippines in Apnl 2006 and invested heavily in the
construction and build-out of our third Phlhppme facility, that-we expect t0 open in the late first or early second
quartér of 2007. In addmon in order to meet client demand, during the third quarter of 2006, we leased temporary
space in the Phrhpplnes and further expanded the amount of our temporary space in the 2006 fourth quarter. Capital
expenditures associated with these activities totaled $5.9 million. As a result of this expansron off-shore revenue
from continuing clients grew from $5.3 million in the first quarter of 2006 to $9.4 million in the founh quarter.

In the third quarter of 2006, we completed our strategic realignment closing an additional four customer care centers
as we ramped down the initial Medicare Part D enrollment period (which ended in May 2006) and exited our
relatlonshlp with T-Mobile. Durmg 2006, we recorded $2.4 million in additional restructuring charges which
included additional charges of $0.9 million related to the 2005 restructuring as a result of delays in subletting space
in our corporate office in Deerfield, lllinois. See Note 7 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The financial results of our strategi¢ repositioning were ev1dent in our 2006 fourth quarter and fiscal year end

" results:

> . Excluding revenue from the exited outbound customer acquisition business from fiscal year 2006 and 2005,
revenue increased $22.3 million or 11, 1% to $223.4 rmlllon in fiscal year 2006;

> Ongoing off-shore revenue grew 157% from $10.9 million in fiscal year 2005 to $28.2 rmlhon in ﬁscal year
2006,

e
1 P

> Operating income for the 2006 fourth quarter was $1.5 million compared to a $4.5 million operating loss in the
comparable prior year quarter; and .

> Income before taxes was $954,000 for the 2006 fourth quarter compared to a $4 9 ml]llOl’l loss in the prior year.

In 2006, we also recorded a valuation allowance of $25.2 million against the carrymg value of our deferred tax
assets. The valuation ‘allowance was necessitated due to cumulative historic losses generated by us over the
preceding 12 quarters, primarily as the resultof losses incurred in connection with the exited outbound customer
acquisition business. See Note 8 of the Notes to Consohdated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. o

Financial Outlock . : T _ T - ‘

As we move into 2007, we believe we are well positioned to realize the long-term potential of our business. Our high
level growth strategy is to continue to aggressivély grow our higher margin off-shore business while continuing to
optimize the contribution of our domestic.capacity. This will require continued investment in our Philippine
infrastructure. We expect to complete construction of our third facﬂlty in the Philippines and begln operatlons late
in the first or early in the second quarter of 2007, At that time, we will begin transitioning our operations at our
temporary site and expect to build-out the 2,000 seat capactty "of ﬂns facility over “the balance of 2007. As we
continue’ to pursue this strategy, we expect to contmue to 1mprove our ﬁnancral performance ‘

A T Y L
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Results of Operations C e

The following table sets forth selected information about our,results of operations for fiscal years ended
December 31,2006, January 1, 2006’ and January 2, 2005 (fiscal years 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively).
Certain additional components of net revenue and cost-of services have been included as we believe they would
enhance an understanding of our'results of operations.

ro el -
L B . ’ - . -

¥or the Fiscal Year Ended

. ,. ! . ' ‘ December 31, . Januvary 1, January 2, 2006 vs 2005 12005 ,ve ZW
- - S - 2006 2006 '2005(1) ' Fav (Unfav)  Fav (Unfav)
o ey ’ (Dollars in thousands, except statistical data and notes)
Net Revenue: o : ’ - o T )
.. On-gomg ! : ' . ' .t ‘ 4 ' o . o e "
- Domestic »v....... 0 e o0 0 $195,209 $190,054 °$195208 . 27% * - (2.6)%
Y Offshore...i....l.io0 0 28189 10967 21997 -1s68 0 <
' Exited outbound busmess e Lol 929" 38,824" _ 75832 (97.6) ° .(488)
Total net,revenue .. .. .. ... S ~224,297 . 239845, 273,239 - ) (6.5) . {12.2)
Cost of Services: S e T e
- Direct labor . . ... I CoooToLoo. 129,839 0 137,695 .. 155871 - - 57 S 5 W O
Other facility expenses . .. .......... 67,256 79,429 83,912 i5.3 53"
Total cost.of services . ... o, ts )] 197 095 - 2217124 2399783 - - .92 - v .94
Percentage of revenue . . . RN ‘. .J ' 87.9% 90.5% ' 878% =~ * ok
Gross'profit . ... ... 0 AT L e aza02 ¢ 22921 v 3zase” 197 ¢ (3a0)
Gross profit margin ., ............... 12.1% 9.5% 12.2% * T
Operating Expensés:: /¢ " LT T e o e
Selling, general & adrmmstratwc . wd
, BXPENSES . i o v it it e ,032,065 0 34369« 39712 .- 67, o 135 -
Restmctunng and othcr charges cee 12?384 . 8,21§ , 1 873 . 110 ¥
Asset 1mpalrment charges e e — 10,886 2 234 L1000 Lx
iTotaJ operating expenses . . . . oLl 34449 ° . 53,471 - 43,819 1 35.6 ow (22.0)
Operating Toss ... 1.0 ... TV (g24m T B050) (10363) T 764 T T (196.7)
Other inCOMe . . ... ovovvrneaeen... (101) (600) (361) (832 66.2
Interest expense, net. .. .............. 2,013 1,408 620 {43.0) . *
Loss before income taxes . . ........... . . (9,159) . (31,558). (10,622) A 71.0 (197.1)
Provision.(benefit} for income taxes Cee 214380 {9,160) (4,123 .- . * - 1222,
Net loss. RIS S q;‘ ..... : $(30,539)' $(22,398) $ (6,499) (36 % (244.6)%

' 1 . Ir - " s t . ' PFRL

(1) We operate on a 52/53 weck ﬁscal ycar that ends on the Sunday closest to December 31 All fiscal years
prcscntcd were 52 wceks except for fiscal year 2004 whlch ended on January 2, 2005. Flscal year 2004 'was
53 weeks. The effect of the additional week in fiscal year 2004 was to increase revenues and gross proﬁt by
$4.1 million and $87,000, respectively, and increase operating loss by $336,000.

* Means that the percentage change is not meaningful.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To supplement our Consolidated Financial Statements presented in accordance with GAAP, we use the following
measures defined as non-GAAP financial measures: EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow. The
presentation of these non-GAAP financial measures is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute
for the financial information presented in accordance with GAAP.

We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide meaningful supplemental information regarding our
performance and fiquidity by excluding certain expenses that may not be indicative of our core business operating
results, We believe management, investors and lenders benefit from referring to these non-GAAP financial
measures in assessing our performance and when planning, forecasting and analyzing future periods. These non-
GAAP financial measures also facilitate internal comparisons to our historic performance and liquidity. We believe
that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors and analysts in allowing for greater transparency
with respect to supplemental information used by us in our financial and operational decision making.

We expect to use consistent methods for computation of non-GAAP financial measures. Our calculations 'of non-
GAAP financial measures may not be consistent with calculations of similar measures used by other companies.
The accompanying notes have more details on the GAAP financial measures that are most directly comparable to
our non-GAAP financial measures and the related reconciliations between these financial measures.

For the Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, January 1, January 2, 2006 vs 2005 2005 vs 2004
2006

2006 2005(1) Fav {(Unfav) Fav (Unfav)
(Dollars in thousands, except statistical data and notes)

EBITDA(2) .................. e $ 5,320 $(18,032) % 1,053 129.5% * O
Adjusted EBITDA(2) . ............... 7,704 1,070 5,160 620.0 (79.3)
Freecashflow(3) . .................. (5,393) (26,731) (10,153) 79.8 (163.3)
Statistical Information:
Number of customer care centers

Domestic . ........ccovieiuiniinn. 8 12 ' 23 (4 (11)

Off-shore . .......... [ 3 1 1 2 o
Total v vve ] S 1 13 24 (2) (11)
Number of workstations .

Domestic ...........c.coiiinnn.n : 4,730 5,313 © 6,286 (583) (973)

Offshote ......... ... ......... Py 2,098 1,240 600 858 640
Total ........ i 6,828 6,553 6,886 275 (333)
Net weighted avérage revenue per

workstation

Domestic ............ e $38.616 $37,564 $41,723 $1,052 $(4,159)

Off-shore .. ........ccciiviin.n. 19,624 15,102 7,089 4,522 8,013
Total . ... . + 34,298 35,172 40,144 (874) (4,972)

See accompanying Notes to Non-GAAP Financial Measures.

*  Means that the percentage change is not meaningful.

Notes to Non-GAAP Financial Measures

(1) We operate on a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday closest to December 31. All fiscal years
presented were 52 weeks, except for fiscal year 2004 which ended on January 2, 2005. Fiscal year 2004 was
53 weeks. The effect of the additional week in fiscal year 2004 was to increase revenues and gross profit by
$4.1 million and $87,000 respectively, and increase operating loss by $336,000.
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We define EBITDA as net income (loss) plus the provision (benefit) for income taxes, depreciation and
amortization, and interest expense. We define adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA adjusted for restructuring and
other charges and asset impairment charges. We use EBIT DA and ad_]usted EBITDA in addition to operatmg
income and cash flows from operating activities, to assess our hqurdlty and performance mcludmg measuring

"'management incentive plans. In addition, we use ad]usted EBITDA to eva]uate the performance of our current

business model against historic performance without the impact of the restructuring and other charges and asset
impairment charges resulting from our July 2005 strategic alignment. ‘We believe that EBITDA and adjusted

. EBITDA are of interest to our investors and analysts to be able to evaluate our financial results using the same

€))

measures we use, . v I o : -t

‘EBITDA and ad_]usted EBITDA do not represent funds avallable for, our dlscretlonary use and are not intended
, to represent ortobe used as a subsutute for net income (loss) or cash flow from operations data as measured in

accordance with GAAP. The items excluded from EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA are srgmﬁcant components
of our statements of operations and must be considered in perforrmng a comprehensrve assessment of our
overall financial results. . . " . N '

i 4

EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA can be reconciled to net income (loss) which we belreve tobe the most drrectly

‘comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, as follows:

AL *« 'For the Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, Janwary 1, January 2,

‘ - o 2006 2006 2005
: Co T - (Dollars in thousands)
Netloss...........ccovuvnnn e e $(30,539)  $(22,398) $(6,499)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes .. ... .. e - 21,380 (9,160)  (4,123)
Interest expense .. ........ ... ... 2,013 1,408 " 620
Depreciation and amortization. . ... ............ 12,466 12,118 11,055
EBITDA . otont e e e e $ 5320  $(18,032) $ 1,053
Restructuring and other charges ............... 2,384 8,216 1,873 .
Asset impairment charges . ... ... ............ — 10,886 2,234
Adjusted EBITDA . .......... e c.. $.7704 S 1070 $ 5,160

We define free cash flow as EBITDA less capital expenditures. We use free cash flow, in addition to net cash

‘provided by (used in) operating activities, to assess our liquidity and performance. We believe that free cash

. flow is of interest to our investors and analysts in relation to our debt covenants as capital expenditures are a

significant use of our cash and our future performance will depend on cur ability to continue to fund cur growth

For the Fiscal Year Ended
December 31, _ Jaouary i, January 2,
2006 2006 2005

(Dollars in thousands)

EBITDA ....'oetieaiiienanannnes, L8530 $(18032) § 1,053
Capital expenditures . . ... .....0..coveerronnn (13,963) (8,699) (11,206)
Leasehold improvements funded by landlord . . . . . " 3,250 - — —

Freecashflow ................ e $ (5,393) . $(26,731) $(10,153)

Free cash flow does not represent funds available for our discretionary use and is not intended to represent or to
be used as a substitute for cash flow from operating activities as measured in accordance with GAAP.

.
. '
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Free cash flow can be reconciled to net cash provided by, (used in) operating activities, which we believe to be
the most directly comp:;rable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, as follows;

For the Fiscal Year Ended

December 31,
2006 :

b

January 1,
T 2006 ¢

January 2,
2005

. . " {Dollars in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating :
" activities. .. ... ... ... FRPP O A SR $ 2,268 -

‘ ' . mmm———
Purchase of property and equipment, net......... (10,713)
Income tax provision (benefit) ... .. T 21,380
Interest expense . . . . . ' ) 2,013
Changes in operating assets and liabilities . . . . . .. 2,’)[00
Asset impainﬁcnt charges.............. FRREEE —_—
Gaih on sale of property and equipment . .. e ' 18
Increase (decrease) in Qefcmled income taxes . ..... (21,380)
Stock compensation expense. .. ... ............ (1,478).
Non-pash restructuring charges .. ......... ... (201)
Free cash flow. . . ....... TR $ (5,393)
b
L
[ b ¥ ‘
' ' " \ \
' - ;o o
-t ' | T
; .
‘ s ’ '
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$ (2,405 $' 490
(8,699)  (11,206)
L (9,160)  (4,123)
1,408 620
(5.431) 2,981
(10,886)  (2,234)
339 —
9,007 3,394
(909) as
$(26,731)  $(10,153)" T




Fiscal Year 2006 Results of Operations Compared to Fiscal Year 2005 Results of Operations

Net revenue decreased 6.5% to $224.3 million in fiscal year 2006 from $239.8 million in fiscal year 2005, a
decrease of $15.5 million. Excluding revenue from the exited outbound customer acquisition business from 2005
and 2006 results, revenue increased $22.3 million or 11.1% in fiscal year 2006. This increase is largely due to
growth in off-shore revenue from continuing clients of 157% driven primarily by our healthcare vertical. Domestic
revenue from continuing clients increased slightly from fiscal year 2005 as the incremental revenue from our
Medicare Part D business more than offset the reduction in revenue resulting from the termination of our
relationship with T-Mobile. During fiscal year 2005, T-Mobile accounted for over 10% of our revenue.

“Cost of services decreased 9.2% to $197.1 million in fiscal year 2006 from $217.1 million in fiscal year 2005. This
decrease is due to a reduction in direct labor costs and lower operating expenses resulting primarily from lower
volume and the impact of lower off-shore labor rates and reduced domestic operating expenses. As a result, cost of
services as a percentage of revenue also decreased from 90.5% in fiscal year 2005 to 87.9% in fiscal year 2006.

Gross profit increased $4.5 million, or 19.7%, to $27.2 million in fiscal year 2006 from $22.7 million in fiscal year
2005. This increase is due to increased contribution from our higher margin off-shore operations and lower
domestic call center overhead. These factors also drove an increase in gross profit margin to 12.1% in fiscal year
2006 from 9.5% in fiscal year 2005.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $2.3 million or 6.7% to $32.1 million in fiscal year 2006
from $34.4 million in fiscal year 2005. The decrease resulted primarily from a reduction in compensation and
benefits expenses due to headcount reductions and lower facility expenses at our corporate office space in Deerfield,
Mlinois both resulting from our July 2005 restructuring. These reductions were partially offset by an increase in
compensation expense related to our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and employee bonus and incentive accruals.

We recorded $2.4 million of restructuring and other charges in fiscal year 20060. During the year we closed four
customer care centers with approximately 960 workstations as we ramped down the initial Medicare Part D
enrollment period and exited our relationship with T-Mobile. The assets from one of these centers were sold to a
third party. Restructuring and other charges associated with these closures were $1.8 million comprised of lease
termination and other costs of $0.8 million, the write down of property and equipment of $0.5 million net of
reductions from the sale of related assets, and severance costs of $0.5 million related to the elimination of 119
administrative and support positions. We also recorded additional charges of $0.9 million related to the July 2005
restructuring as a result of defays in subletting space in our corporate office in Deerfield, Illinois. These charges
were partially offset by a reversal of $0.3 million of prior year charges not utilized. Cash payments totaling
$1.5 million have been made through December 31, 2006 and the remaining cash charges, primarily related to lease
termination costs are payable through 2008.

We recorded restructuring and other charges of $8.2 million in fiscal year 2005 which included $7.7 million of
restructuring charges and $0.5 million of other charges. Restructuring reserves of $0.7 million providing for the
write off of property and leasehold improvements from the July 2005 restructuring plan outstanding as of January 1,
2006 have been reclassified as a reduction of property and equipment. In fiscal year 2005, we also recorded
$10.9 million of asset impairment charges, $10.5 million of which represents a non-cash charge assoctated with the
write-down of goodwill. See Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Fiscal Year 2005
Results of Operations Compared to Fiscal Year 2004 Results of Operations” for more information.

Operating loss was $7.2 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to an operating loss of $30.8 million in fiscal year
2005. Included in the fiscal year 2006 and fiscal year 2005 results were restructuring and other charges and asset
impairment charges totaling $2.4 million and $19.1 miilion, respectively. Adjusting for these charges which
resulted from the July 2005 strategic realignment in both years, operating loss improved $6.9 million to $4.8 million
in fiscal 2006 from $11.7 million in fiscal 20035, primarily due to the $4.5 million improvement in gross profit and a
decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses of $2.3 million discussed above.

EBITDA improved $23.3 million from a negative $18.0 million in fiscal year 2005 to a positive $5.3 million in
fiscal year 2006. Adjusting for the restructuring and other charges and asset impairment charges resulting from the
July 2005 restructuring in both years, adjusted EBITDA improved $6.6 million to $7.7 million in fiscal year 2006
from $1.1 millton in fiscal year 2005 as a result of improved gross profits and lower selling, general and
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administrative expenses. More information about these.Non-GAAP financial measures, including definitions of
EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of these méasures to the most directly comparablé ‘financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, can be found.in. Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”

Net interest expense increased to $2.0 miltion in ﬁscal}year 2006 from $1.4 million i in fiscal year 2005 due to an
increase in borrowings under our revolvmg credrt facility related to capltal expendltures for the build-out and
relocation of our customer care center in Green’ Bay, Wisconsin, costs associated with our second and third customer
care centers in the Philippines, and an increase in days sales outstandmg due to the tlmmg of collectron of accounts
receivable.

Vo . ' C vt 1. | .
In 2006, we recorded a valuation allowance of $25.2 million against the carrying value-of our deferred tax assets.
The valuation allowance was necessitated due to cumulative historic losses generated by us over the preceding 12
quarters, primarily as the result of losses incurred in connection with the exited outbound customer acqursrtron
business. Forecasted taxable income based'solely on contracts in place at December 31, 2006 and our ex1stmg cost
structuré'does not exceed the amount necessary to fully realize the net deferred tax asset within thiree years or less.
Due to the uncertainty inour ability to realize forecasted earnings, the valuation allowance has been established as
of December 31, 2006. In the future, it may be necessary for us to adjust the valuation allowance based upon actual
results achieved. The effective income tax rate in fiscal year 2006 i rs not meanmgful compared 10 29.0% for fiscal
year 2005 due to the va]uatron allowance recorded. - : . "

v e Ny
f

Fiscal Year 2005 Results of Operatwns Compared to Ftscal Year 2004 Results of Operatwns oo

¥

Net revenue decreased, 12.2% to $239. 8 rmlhon in ﬁscal year 2005 from 5273 2 mrllron in fiscal year 2004, a
decrease of $33 4 million. The year, over year revenue decline was primarily due to reductions in the domestrc
outbound customer acquisition business of $37.0 million and the absence of revenue from the 53rd week of fiscal
year 2004 of $4.1 million, partially offset by an increase of $8.8 million in off-shore revenue.

Cost of services decreased 9.4% to $217.1 million in fiscal year 2005 from $239.8 million in fiscal year 2004. The
revenue decline resulted in an 11.7% réduction in direct labor costs. In addition, operational efficiencies and the
reduction in call center overhead as a result of the July 2005 restructuring contributed to the $22.7 million reduction
in cost of services. The July 2005 restructuring resulted in the closure of twelve customer care centers (including
space located in our corporate offices in Deerfield, Illinois). The assets of four of these centers were sold to third
parties. As a percent of revenue, cost of serwces increased to 90.5% in fiscal year 2005 from 87:8% in fiscal 'year
2004. This increase was due to significantly underutilized capacity and excés$ overhead eXpenses dunng the first
half of fiscal year 2005.

Gross profit decreased $10.8 million to $22.7 million in fiscal year 2005 from $33.5 million in fiscal year 2004 die
primarily to the reduction in volume. As a percent of revenue, gross profit margm decreased 10 9.5% in fiscal year
2005 from 12. 2% in fi: scal year 2004 dnven by srgmﬁcant underutlhzed capacrty and excess overhead expenses

Sellmg general and adn‘umstrauve expenses decreased 13. 5% to $34 4 million in ﬁscal year ’2005 from $39 7 mil-
lion in fiscal year 2004. The decrease resulted: prrmanly from a reduction of administrative and support positions as
a result of the July 2005 restructuring. : < ch e, o oo

We recorded restructunng “and other charges of $8. 2 million in fiscal year 2005 which included $7.7 mrlhon of
restructunng charges and $0.5 million of othér charges Components of the 2005 restructuring charges included: the
write-off of property and 1éase termination and other costs associated with the reduction of our corporate officé
space in Deerfield, Illmors ($4.9 mlllron) and the closure of seven addrtlonal customer care centers ($0 5 mthon)

and severance costs related to the elimination of adnumstratwe and support positions ($2.3 mllllon) Cash payinents
totaling $4.8 million relalmg to the July 2005 restructunng have been pard through December 31,72006. The
remaining $1.7 million of cash charges pnmanly related to lease terrnmatlon costs are payable in ﬁscal years 2007
and 2()08

R e

Restructurmg charges totaled $2.0 mtlllon in ﬁscal year 2004 parttally offset by the reversal of $0.2 million of prior
year charges not utilized. Components of the 2004 restructuring charges included: severance costs related-to the
elimination of administrative and support positions ($1.5 million); and the write-off of property and lease
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termination and other costs associated with the closure of eight customer care centers ($0.5 million). Cash payments
totaling $1.8 million relating to the fiscal year 2004 restructurmg have been paid through December 31, 2006 and no
remaining payments are outstanding. - v - .

In fiscal year 2005, we recorded $10. 9 million of asset impairment charges, $ 10.5 million of which represents anon-
cash charge associated with the write-down of goodwlll We recorded $2.2 million of asset impairment charges in
fiscal year 2004 relating to the wnte—off of unutilized software and telecommumcanons equipment.

Operating loss was $30.8 million in fiscal year 2005, an increase from an operating loss of $10.4 million in fiscal
year 2004 primarily due to a decline in gross profit margin of $10.8 million, increases in asset impairment and
restructuring and other charges of $8.7 million and $6.3 million, respectlvely, partially offset by a decrease in
selling, peneral and administrative expenses of $5.3 million. Do
EB]TDA declined from $1 .l million in ﬂscal year 2004 to a negative $18.0 million in fiscal year 2005 due to the
$10.8 million decline in gross profit and higher operating expenses driven by increases of $8.7 million and
$6.3 million in asset impairment charges and restructuring and other charges, respectively. The increase in asset
impairment charges and restructuring and other charges was due primarily to the charges associated with the July
2005 restructuring and the $10.5 million write-down of goodwill..Fiscal year 2005 asset impairment charges were
$10.9 million compared to $2.2 million in fiscal year 2004 and fiscal year 2005 restructuring and other charges were
$8.2 million compared to $1.9 million in the prior fiscal year. Adjusting for restructuring and other charges and asset
impairment charges, adjusted EBITDA declined $4.1 million to $1.1 million in fiscat year 2005 from $5.2 million in
fiscal year 2004. More information about these non-GAAP financial measures, including definitions of EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA 'and a reconciliation of these measures to the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, can be found in Item 7 of this Anniial Report on Form lO—K
under the caption “Non—GAAP Financial Measurcs" and the accompanying notes

Net interest expense increased to $1.4 million in fiscal year 2005 from $0.6 million in fiscal year 2004 due to an
increase in borrowings in 2005 primarily to fund purchases of property and equipment and severance costs related to
the July 2005 restructuring. ., » ' '

Our effectrve income tax rate was 29 0% in fiscal year 2005 compared to 38.8% for fiscal year 2004. The decrease in
the effective tax rate was driven by the nondeductlblllty of the $10.5 million charge for goodwill impairment and the
recegnmon of tax credits in the computation of the fiscal year 2005 tax benefit.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates L. o .

The preparatlon of ﬁnancral statements in conforrmty with genera]ly accepted accountmg principles in the United
States requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in'the consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes. Certain of our accounting policies are considered critical, as these policies are
the most important to the depiction of the financial statements and often require significant and complex judgments
by us, employing the use of estimates and judgments on matters that are inherently uncertain. On an ongoing basis,
we evaluate our estimates and judgments in these areas based on historic experience and other relevant factors. The
estimates as of the date of the financial statements reflect our best Judgment giving ‘consideration to all currently
available facts and c1rcumstances We belleve our estlmates and Judgments are reasonable; however, actual results
and the timing of the recogmtlon of such amounts could differ from those estlmates . We have used methodologies
that are consistent from year to year in all matenal respects, except where we have adopted FASB Statement
No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123(R)) effective January 2, 2006, as described in Note 7 of the
Notes to Consolidated F1nanc1al Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We haye identified the
following accounting policies and estimates that we believe are most critical in the preparation of our Consolidated
Financial Statements: revenue recognition, cost of services, accounting for long-lived assets, goodwill and other
intangible assets, restructuring charges, allowance .for doubtful accounts, accounting for employee benefits,
accounting for stock-based compensation and income taxes. Any deviation from these policies or estimates could
have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

34




Revenue recognition

We provide customer care services according to each client’s contract We evaluate each contract to determine the
appropriate treatment for revenue recognition in accordance with Secunty and Exchange Commission (SEC) Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, SAB No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition” and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables” We recognize revenues only when there is evidence of an arrangement, services have been provided,

the price is fixed and determinable, and collection i is considered probable. Client contracts generally require that we
bill for our services based on time spent by customer service representatives or on a per call or per transaction basis.

Delivery of services to our clients generally entails an initial implementation effort during which costs are incurred
in connection with information and telephony systems implementation, establishment of operating processes and
hiring and training of employees. Certain of our client contracts provide for payment of fees in connection with
some of these activities. The initial implementation effort is not considered a separate element as defined by EITF
Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” Rather, these implementation activities,
together with the ongoing service delivery, constitute a single unit of accounting for which revenue is recognized
using a proportional performance method such as recognizing revenue based on transactional services delivered or
on a straight-line basis, as appropriate. Revenue recognized is limited to the amount which we are contractually
entitled to collect from our clients. ' ‘

Certain client contracts do not provide for separate payment of fees for implementation activities; rather such fees
are implicitly included within the rates associated with the ongoing service delivery. For these arrangements, no
revenue is recognized related to the implementation activities and specific direct and incremental costs associated
with the implementation actlvmes are deferred and amortized over the period the related ongoing services revenue
is recognized.

In many cases, we are subject to varying client quality, service level, and performance-standards, such as average
handle time, occupancy rate, abandonment rate, call quality, and customer satisfaction. Qur performance against
such standards may provide bonus opportunities, or conversely, may subject us to penalties, which are recognized as
earned or incurred.

Cost of services

We generally recognize costs associated with our customer care services as they are incurred in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts, (SFAC) No. 5 “Recognition and Measurement in Financial State-
ments of a Business Enterprise.” Cost of services include direct labor, telephone and other facility expenses directly
related to providing customer care services to our clients.

Delivery of services to our clients generally entails an initial implementation effort during which costs are incurred
in connection with information and telephony systems implementation, establishment of operating processes and
hiring and training of employees. Certain of our client contracts provide for payment of fees in connection with
some of these activities and, in such instances, related costs are expensed as incurred. Certain client contracts do not
provide for separate payment of fees for 1mplernentat10n activities. For these arrangements specific direct and
incremental costs associated with the implementation activities are deferred and amortized over the period the
related ongoing services revenue is recognized.

Accounting for long-lived assets ,‘ .
Long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment. ln addition to the ongmal cost of these assets, their
recorded value is impacted by a number of policy elections we make, including estimated useful lives and salvage
values. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we record impairment charges on long-lived assets used in
operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows
estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amount of those assets.

Any decision to reduce capacity by closing customer care centers or to abandon assets may result in a write-off of
the net book value of the affected assets. In this circumstance, the impairment charge is determined based upon the
amount by which the net book value of the assets exceeds their fair market value. In making these determinations,
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we utilize certain assumptions, including, but not limited to, the estimated fair market value of the assets, which are
based on additional assumptions such as asset utilization, length of time the asset will be used in our operations and
estimated Salvage values. The remaining useful life of the impaired assets will be reassessed and revised if
necessary. .

Goodwill and other intangible assets S .

We are required to test all mtanglble assets for i 1mpa1rment under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounnng for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long—Lwed Assets ”If 1mpalrment indicators are present, we will perform our
evaluation for impairment at that time. Unader SFAS No. 144 the evaluation of impairment is based upon a
comparison of the cafrying amount of the intangible asset to the estimated future.undiscounted net cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset. If estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are less than the carrying
amount of the asset, the asset is considered impaired. The impairment expense is determined by comparing the
estimated fair value of the intangible asset to its carrying value, with any shortfall from fair value recognized as an
expense in the current period.- : .

Intangible assets with definite lives, such as customer relationship intangible assets, are amortized over thelr
estimated useful lives under the provisions of SFAS No. 142. We evaluate the remaining useful life of our customer
relationships balance at least annually to determine whether events or circumstances warrant a revision to the
remaining amortization pericd.

Restructuring charges .

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” we
record & liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when a liability is incurred. A restructuring
charge may be recognized for certain employee termination benefits and other costs when we exit an activity. The
amount of a-restructuring charge is based on our estimate of severance and other costs to be paid to terminated
employees and costs associated with the termination of lease obligations, net of estimated sublease rental income.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on a quarterly assessment of the probable estimated losses in
trade accounts receivable. This estimate is based on specific allowances for certain identified receivables and an
addmonal allowance for estlmated losses on all other receivables based on their age and collection hlstory We
charge off uncollecuble accoums when we have exhausted all possﬂ)le c¢ollection efforts.

Accounting for employee benefits ' ' '

We record an accrued habnhty for group health and workcrs compensauon claims based on an estimate of claims
incurred, but not reported, as well as asserted claims at the'end of a period. This estimate is derived from an analysis
performed by actuaries we hire who have expertise in this area. Changcs in the employee mix and unforeseen events
could resuli in an adjustment to the estimates provnded by the actuanes

4

Accounting for stock-based compensation

Effective January 2, 2006, we adopted FASB Statement No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123(R)).
Prior to fiscal year 2006, as permitted under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” we
accounted for our stock compensation plans according to Accounting Principles Board {(APB) Opinion No. 25
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. We adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, and therefore, we have not
restated our prior period financial statements.. ' '

Under the modified prospective transition method, compensanon expense is recognized for all share-based payment
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 2, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” In addition,
stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards newly awarded after Januvary 2, 2006 is
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation
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expense related to share-based awards, net of a forfeiture rate, is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
employees’ service periods in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations in accordance with the cla551ficat1on of the related employees’ compensation and benefits.

Income taxes

We account for mcome taxes using the asset and llablhty approach Under the asset and llablhty method, deferred
tax assets and liabilitics are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. A valuation
allowance is recorded when we believe it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized in the near term. We record a reserve for tax contingencies unless we believe it is probable that
the deductions giving rise to these contingencies will be sustained if challenged by taxing authorities.

qumd;ty and Cap:tal Resources

The following table sets forth our consolldated statements of cash flow data for the ﬁscal years ended December 31
2006, January 1, 2006 and January 2, 2003, respectively. , ¢

. . -4 ' For the Fiscal Year Ended
' : December 31, . January |,  January 2,

L. 2006 2006 2005 |
(Dollars in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities. .. ... ... $ 2,268 $(2,405) $ 490
Net cash used in investing activities. . ... ... ............ (8,737 - (7,628) (1 1,206)
Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancmg acnvmes. L. 6956 - 10,836 - (441)
Effect of exchange rates on cash............... e, x C(142) (114} —

Net change incash . .. ...... P .. $ 345 $ 689 811,157

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $4.7 mlllaon to $2 3 mllllon in fiscal year 2006 comparedtoa
use of cash of $2.4 million in fiscal year 2005, primarily as a result of improved operating performance driven by
reducuons in domestic.call center overhead, lower compensation and benefits expenses and lower domestic facility
costs all resulting from our July 2005 restructuring.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased by $2 9 million in fiscal year 2005 compared to fiscal year
2004, primarily as a result of an operating loss in fiscal year 2005 of $30.8 million compared to an operating loss of
$10.4 million in fiscal year 2004, The $20.4 million increase in operating loss in fiscal year 2005 was pnmarlly due
to a decline in gross profit margin of $10.8 million and increases in asset impairment and restructuring charges of
$8.7 million and $6.3 million, rcspcctwely, pamally offset by a decrease in selling, genera] and administrative
expenses of $5.3 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased by $1.1 ‘million in fiscal year 2006 as comparcd to fiscal year 2005.
Cash used in investing activities in fiscal year 2006 consisted pnmanly of costs related to the build-out and
relocation of our customer care center in Green Bay, Wisconsin and costs for our second and third customer care
centers in the Philippines, partially offset by approxnmatcly $2.0 million in proceeds from the sale-leaseback of our
Cedar Rapids, lowa facility.

Net cash used in investing activitips was $7.6 million in fiscal year 2005, primarily relating to expenditures for the
build out of additional seats in our first customer care center in the Philippines offset by approximately $1.1 million
in proceeds from the sale of the assets of certain customer care centers. Net cash used in investing activities of
$11.2 million in fiscal year 2004 was also primarily due to expenditures related to the initial build out of seats in the
Philippines and‘costs to develop eWFM™ and eWitness™. S :
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Financing Activities

Net cash provided By financing activities was $7.0 million in fiscal year 2006, down from $10.8 million in fiscal
year 2005, as a result of a net $1.8 million increase in borrowings under our revolving loan facility plus increased
borrowings on long-term debt, to fund purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities increased in fiscal year 2005 primarily due to borrowings under our
revolving loan facility, partially offsct by capital lease payments. Cash used in financing actwmes in fiscal year
2004 pnmanly related to capital lease payments.

P

Free Cash Flow

i

Free cash flow improved by $21.3 million to a negative $5.4 million fiscal year 2006 compared to a negative
$26.7 million in fiscal year 2005. This improvement is primarily due to reductions in asset impairment and
restructuring and other charges which totaled $2.4 million in fiscal year 2006 compared to $19.1 million in fiscal
year 2003. Free cash flow declined $16.5 million in fiscal year 2005 to a negative $26.7 million from a negative
$10.2 million in fiscal year 2004. This decline is due to a $19.1 million reduction in EBITDA, partially offset by a
$2.5 million reduction in capital expenditures. More information concerning this non-GAAP financial measure,
including the definition of free cash flow and a reconciliation of this measure to the most directly comparable
financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, can be found in Item 7 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K under the caption “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” and the accompanying notes.

Bank Financing

Asof January 3, 2005, we had a revolving credit facility (the “Original Credit Agree'mlent”) which was scheduled to
expire in December 2005. The Original Credit Agreement provided $50.0 million of total credit availability and
actual availability varied monthly based on the level of eligible receivables at the end of the preceding month. As of
January 3, 2005, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Original Credit Agreement and approximately
$3.2 million was utilized through the issuance of standby letters of credit primarily to support insurance reserves.
Total available borrowing capacity at January 3, 2005 was $25.2 million.

On June 2, 2005, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “LaSalle Credit Agreement”) with LaSalle
Bank National Association, as agent (“LaSalle™) which replaced the Original Credit Agreement. The terms of the
LaSalle Credit Agreement provided for up to a $40.0 million revolving credit facility that would have expired in
June 2008. The outstanding revolving ioan commitment under the LaSalle Credit Agreement was $25.0 million
based on our anticipated cash requirements. Borrowing availability was based on accounts receivable and was
subject to certain restrictions and limitations set forth in the LaSalle Credit Agreement. In addition, from and after
October 31, 2005, LaSalle retained certain reserves against otherwise available borrowmg capacity, including a
reserve related to the Internal Revenue Services’ proposed adjustment to our 2002 tax return which is described
below under “ITI Tax Matter.” -

From June 2, 2005 through January 31, 2007, the outstanding revolving loan commitment ranged from $25.0 million
to $30.0 million and, from December 5, 2006 through January 31, 2007, an additional $5.0 million in term debt was
outstanding under the LaSalle Credit Agreement. Beginning in July 2007, we would have been obligated to begin
making mandatory monthly principal payments of $250,000 on the $5.0 million in term debt. The LaSalle Credit
Agreement was amended numerous times throughout 2006. These amendments generally related to changes in
certain financial covenants and related defined terms and increases in borrowing availability. For more information,
see Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial. Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Borrowings under the LaSalle Credit Agreement, as subsequently amended, incurred a floating interest rate based
on the LIBOR index rate or an alternate base rate defined in the LaSalle Credit Agreement. The loans provided
under the LaSalle Credit Agreement were secured principally by a grant of a security interest in all our personal
property and fixwres. In addition, we paid a commitment fee on the unused portion of the revolvmg loan
commitment as well as fees on outstanding letters of credit.

Restrictive covenants in the LaSalle Credit Agreement, as subsequently amended, limited our ability to make
capital expenditures, incur additional indebtedness, repurchase outstanding common shares, create liens, acquire,
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sell or dispose of certain assets, engage in certain mergers and acquisitions, pay dividends and make certain

restnctecl payments ‘

Borrowtngs under the LaSalle Credit Agreement as subsequently. amended' totaled $18.8 mtlhon as of Decem-
ber 31, 2006. We had approximately $11.3 million in unused borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2006. We were
in compliance with our financial covenants as of December 31 2006' o . !

On January 31, 2007 we entered mto (1) a Second Amended and Restated Loan and Secunty Agreement with
LaSalle (the “Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement”); and (ii) a Second Lien Loan and Security Agreement
with LaSalle (the “Second Lien Loan Agreement”.) The Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement provides for a
$27.5 million revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Loan Facility”) which expires in October 2010 and the Second
Lien Loan Agreement provides for a $15 million term loan which matures in January 2011 (the “Term Loan™). The
proceeds of the Term Loan were used to repay our indebtedness to LaSalle under the LaSalle Credit Agreement.

Our ability to borrow under the Revolving Loan Facility depends on the amount of eligible accounts receivable from
our clients and there are limitations on the concentration of these accounts with a single client. In addition, LaSalle
retains certain reserves against otherwise available borrowmg capacity, me]udmg a reserve related to the Internal
Revenue Services’ proposed adjustment to our 2002 tax return described ‘in Note § of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Borrowings under the Revolving Loan Facility
incur a floating interest rate based on the LIBOR index rate or an alternate base rate defined in the Second Restated
LaSalle Credit Agreement. The Revolving Loan Facility ts secured principally by a grant of a first priority security
interest in all of our personal property and fixtures, including its accounts receivable. In addition, we pay a
commitment fee on the unused’ portion of the Revolving Loan Facility as well as fees on outstanding letters of credit.

The Term Loan incurs interest ata ffoating interest rate based on the LIBOR index rate. The interest rate on the Term
Loan is higher than the interest rate paid on borrowings under the Revolving Loan Facility. Beginning in July 2007,
we are obligated to make mandatory monthly pnncrpal payments on the Term Loan of $200,000. The Term Loan is
secured principally by a grant of a second priority security interest in all of our personal property and fixtures,
including accounts receivable. : T "

The Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and Second Lien Loan Agreement contain certain financial
covenants including limits on the amount of cash restructuring charges, and maintenance of maximum fixed charge
coverage ratios, minimum carnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and maximum ratio of
indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Other covenants in the Second
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and Second Lien Loan Agreement restrict the amount we can spend on capital
expenditures prohibit (with limited exceptions) us from incurring additional indebtedness, repurchasing outstand-
ing common shares, creating liens, acquiring, selling or disposing of certain assets, engaging in certain mergers and
acquisitions, paying dividends or making certain restricted payments.

On February 5, 2007, LaSalle assigned all of its rights and obligations as the agent and lender under the Second Lien
Loan Agreement to an unaf_ﬁliate_d third party. .

(4 ! i
' o . oo B ) . N
[N [ T I N P Ca f ir . . 1

IT1 TaxMatter' L o ' T N . ., . "

In October 2003, we ‘received an $1 1.6 mrllton cash tax refund assocrated wnth the write-0 off for tax purposes 'in 2002
of our remaining investment in ITI. ‘The Internal Revenue Service has audited our 2002 tax return and proposed an
adjustment that would disallow this deduction. We believe that we have sufficient support for the deduction and
intend to pursue our. available remedies. On November 30, 20035, we filed a protest contesting the proposed
adjustment and requesting a hearing with an Internal Revenue Service Appeals Officer. At this point, it is unclear as
to how this issue will ultimately be resolved. Although we have not recognized the income tax benefit related to this
deduction and have previously recorded a liability for the amount of the refund, should we not prevail in thismatter,
we may be required to pay some or all of the previously received refund of $11.6 million, as well as interest related
thereto. The timing of any repayment of the previously received refund could have a material adverse effect on our
liquidity, require us to seek additional financing to.fund the repayment, and result in a.defavlt under the Second
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and-the Second Lien Loan Agreement.
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Future Liquidity . - P L SRR

i 1

We expect that our cash balances, cash flows from operations and available borrowings under the Second Reétateii
LaSalle Credit Agreement and the Second-Lien Loan Agreement will be sufficient to meet projected operating
needs, fund any planned capital expenditures, and repay -debt obligations as: they. come due. Our cash flow is
significantly impacted by our ability to collect our clients” accounts receivable on a timely basis. To the extent that
our business with a single client or small group of clients represents a more significant portion of our revenue, a
delay in' receiving payrent could materially adversely affect the avallabllnty of -cash to fund- operauons ‘A
significant change in operating cash flow,"a failure to- stistain profitability or an adveérse outcome in our pendmg
dispute with the Internal Revenue Service could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and our ablhty to
comply with the covenants in the Setond Restated LaSalle Credit Agreementand the Second Lien Loan Agreement
See ltem 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “Our business may be affected by our cash ﬂows
from operations and our ability to comply with our debt covedants.”< " ' - 7 ' '

" ' 1 o Lt ~ . n,

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements ] ‘ . Y I

We do not have any off balance sheet arrangemems other than operatmg leases
FEFTEEET < , % KR
! . . R S L et <t

Contracrual Obligations and Commitrnems , FVLI 1

We have the following contmctual obhgatlons and commercial comrmtrnents
' : ' . Y
' . ' ) Payment Due by Perlod
Less than
. .1 Year 2to3 Years dtoS5 Years, Over 5 Years Total

{Doliars in thousands)
. i o

P R S -,

Contractual Ob,liAgati‘o]n‘s:‘ . , ‘ e . L

. Operating leases . .. .......... $8,541  $10361  $5321 = $8,909  $33,132

Other Commercial Commitments: . e .
Long-term debt, mcludmg

T nterest. ... ti L Vol o ©OL180 ' 3,190 42220 ' e - 16,590
. \ . . L . ! EETH P A | - i 1
Telecommunicatiosis . : _ . o v o )
commitments’. . ... T Y4527 7429 0" — 0 — 11956
Letters of Credit ........... .. 3959 T, 3959
- Total other commercial' o L SR S . ‘ .
.commitments . .......... co.. $9.666 - $10,619.. ., $2220..... § — $22,505 .
New Accounting Pronouncements . . . SR PR

, “r . . - f
Effective January 2, 2006, we adopted FASB Statement No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123(R)),
Prior to fiscal year 20046, as permitted under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” we
accounted for our stock compensation plans according to Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related mterpretatlons We adopted the fair value recognmon
provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modlﬁed prospectlve transmon method and therefore we have not
restated our prlor penod financial statements '

. "I BN Ay u.. ) My
Under the modified prospective transition method compensation expense is recognized for all share—based payment
awards granted prior-to, but not yet vested as of lanuary 2, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” In addition,
stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards newly awarded after January 2, 2006 is
based on the grant:date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation
expense related to share-based awards, net of a forfeiture.rate, is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite
employees’ service periods in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of
operations in accordance with the classification of the related employee$” compensation and benefits.
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In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Financial Statement Position (FSP)
No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards.”
This pronouncement provides an alternative method of calculating excess tax benefits available to absorb any tax
deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment.” We have evaluated FSP No. 123(R)-3 and determined that any one-time
e}ection is not expected to materially affect our operating income or net earnings.

The FASB issued FASB Interpretation 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes: an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109, (FIN 48) on July 13, 2006. FIN 48 clarifies Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to
indicate the criterion that an individual tax position would have to meet for some or all of the benefit of that position
to be recognized in an entity’s financial statements. In applying FIN 48, an entity is required to evaluate.a tax
position using a two-step process. First, the entity should evaluate the position for recognition. An entity should
recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position if it determines that it is more likely than not that the
position will be sustained on examination. Next, the entity should measure the amount of benefit that should be
recognized for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not test. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006. We have evaluated the effect FIN 48 will have on our financial statements.and
believe the effects will not be material.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Historically, we have been exposed to the impact of U.S. interest rate changes directly related to our normal
operating and funding activities and foreign currency exchange risk related to our operating costs in the Philippines.
The impact on foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations has not been material. It is common practice to mitigate
these risks with hedging strategies and derivative instruments. We currently do not use detivatives to manage this
risk, but will continue to monitor market conditions and its exposure to currency exchange risk to determine if such
instruments would be beneficial in the future,

We prepared a sensitivity analysis of our average debt for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, assuming a one-
percentage point adverse change in interest rates. Holding all other variables constant, the hypothetical adverse
change would not significantly increase interest expense. The sensitivity analysis assumes no changes in our
financial structure.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,

The following financial information is included m this Annual Report on Form 10-'K:;

Repon of Independent Registered Public Accountmg Firm for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31 .

2006, . e e e e e 43
Report of Independent Registered Pubhc Accounting an for the Flscal Years Ended Ianuary 1, 2006
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006 Janvary 1, 2006,

and January 2, 2005 .. ... e e 45
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006 ...... PP el 46!
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006, . )

January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005 . ... ..ot PR 4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006, January l

2006, 'and January 2, 2005. . .. ... ‘48
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. ... ..... ... ...... ... ... .... [ 49
Quarterly Results of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006, and January 1, 2006.,. -68
Management’s Report on, Internal Control over Fmanc1al Reporting for the Fiscal Year Ended .

December 31, 2006, . . ..ottt e e e e e 69
Report of Independent Registered Public Accoummg Firm on Intemal Control over Flnanc:lal Repomng

for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006 ...... e 70

42




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm : ce :

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of APAC Customer Services, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of APAC Customer Services, Inc. as of Decem-
ber 31, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the year
then ended. Our audit also included the financial staterment schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) for the year
ended December 31, 2006, These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial staternents and schedule based on our
audit. - ‘ '

We conducted our audit in accordance. with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis;
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evalvating the overall
financial statement presentation.. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of APAC Customer Services, Inc. at December 31, 2006, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted-accounting
principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company 'adopted the provisions of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board's Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment on January 2, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 9, 2007,
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fs/ Emst & Young LLP

Chicago, llinois
March 9, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of APAC Customer Services, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of APAC Customer Services, Inc. and subsidiaries
{the “Company”) as of January 1, 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity,
and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended January 1, 2006. Our audits also included the financial
statement schedule for each of the two years ended January 1, 2006 listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our respon-
sibility is to0 express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of January 1, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended January 1, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule for each of the two years ended
Januwary 1, 2006, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Chicago, illinois
March 10, 2006




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

For the Fiscal Year Ended

: December 31, January 1, January 2,
2006 2006 2005
NEETEVEOUE . . oottt ittt ettt it e et $224,297 $239,845  $273,239
..Costof services. . .................... s 197,095 217,124 239,783
Gross profit. ... ... .o o oL L A O 1 S TP 27,202 . 22,721 . 33,456
Operating expenses: . : . .. P R
. - Selling, general -and administrative expenses. . . ................ 32,065 34369 39712

Restructuring and-other charges . .. ......... ... . ..o 0t 2,384, 8,216 1,873

-Asset impatrment charges .. ... ... L o o i e _ _— 10,886  ..2,234

+- Total operating eXpenses . ... ... vt inians s 34449 . 53471 - 433819
OPerating loSS. . . . oo\ ottt e (7.247)-  (30,750) ' "'(10,363)
Otherincome . ........oovivrenneonn., R (101) (600} " {361)
Interest expense’. ... ... i 2,013 1408 . -+ 620

Loss before income taxes. . ... ... . ... ... e, P - ©,159) | (3.1,558) (10,622)
Income tax provision (benefit) . . ................... P 21,380 ° (9,160} (4, l,.,23)

Netloss ........ PO $(30,539) $(22398) $ (6499)
Net loss per share: . . -

' Basic .. .. .. e e e $ 062) 3 (045 5§ (0.13)
CDilitted e $ (062 3 (045 5 0.13)
Weiéht'ed average shares outstanding: ‘ ‘ ) ,

Basic ... ..ooiiaii el D 49458 49,455 ' 49,453
CDBiluted L s 49,458 49,455 ,49,453

T Sy
ro g . '
o 1
) ' ¢ ¢ : L& 1

See Notes to Censolidated Financial Statements.
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APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cashand cashequivalents. . . ....... ... ... i,

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $1,473 and $1,919, respectively

Other CUTEnt AS5ELS . v v v vttt it h s e et e et e e e it ettt ea e eenaenns

Total CUITeNt ASSEtS . . L . . ittt it inte it taaas s ernean e

Property and equipment, net. . .. ... ... . e e,
Goodwill . ... .. .. i e e e
Other intangible assets, net
Deferred taxes . .. . ..ottt e e e,
L T T S

Total ASSEES . . . . i e e e e e

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term debt . ... vt e e e e e e

Accounts payable . . . .. L e e
Income taxes payable . . ... ... .. i e e
Accrued payroll and related items . . .. .. .. ... . Lo o il

Accrued Labilities . . . ..o it i i e e e e e e

Total Current Liabilities . ... .........ouoeuerieeenenan.. B

Long-terrn debt .. ........ ... . . e s
Other liabilities . . .. ... . o i e e
Commitments and cORNEENCIES . . . ..o v v vt i vt i it a e e ey
Shareholders’ equity:

Common Shares, $0.01 per share; authorized 200,000,000 shares; 50,066,628 and
49,695,699 shares issued at December 31, 2006, and January 1, 2006,
respectively; 49,866,583 and 49,454,654 shares outstanding at December 31,
2006, and January 1, 2006, respectively . . .. ... ... . L o o

Additional paid-incapital . ........ ... ... . . e

Accumulated deficit . .. .. ... .. e
Accumulated other comprehensive income {(loss) . . .......... ... ... .. ...,

Treasury shares: 200,045 and 241,045 shares at cost at December 31, 2006 and
January 1, 2000, respectively . . . .. ... L

Total Shareholders’ Equity. . ... ... .. o i
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ............. ... ... ......

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31 January 1,
2006 2006
$ 1305 $ 960
37,858 37,592
6,717 9,248
45,880 47,800
23,930 21,536
13,338 13,338
8,070 10,341
— 16,237
836 1,101
$ 92,054  $110,353
$ 14378 § 11,971
2,890 3,558
17,800 17,377
14,603 12,769
12,888 9,810
62,559 55,485
4,400 —
1,789 2,994
501 497
101,077 99,598
(77,849) (47,310)
280 (64)
(703) (847)
23,306 51,874
$ 92,054  $110,353




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Common Common Additional Accumulated Other Total
Shares Share Pald-In Accumutated Comprehensive Treasury Shareholders’
Issued Amount Capital Deficit Income {Loss) Stock Equity
Balance, December 28,
2003 . ..., 49,695,699 $497 $ 99,620 $(18,413) $ (82) $(892) % 80,730
Netloss........... —_— — (6,499) — — (6,499)
Foreign currency
translation
adjustment . ...... — — — N — 91)
Total comprehensive
"loss ..., .. (6,590)
Exercise of employee
stock options,
including related
income tax K
benefits ,........ — (22) — — 45 23
Balance, January 2,
2008 .. ........... 49,695,699 $497 $ 99,558 $(24,912) $(173) $(847) § 74,163
NetIoss........... — —  (22,398) — - (22,398)
Foreign currency
translation
adjustment . ... ... — — — 109 — 109
Total comprehensive
loss .......... — —_ —_ — — (22,289)
Balance, January 1,
206 . ............ 49,695,699 $497 $ 99,598 $(47,310) $ (64) $(847) $ 51,874
Netloss........... — —_ (30,539) — —_ (30,539)
Foreign currency
translation
adjustment . ... ... —m — — 344 —_ 344
Total comprehensive
loss .......... (30,195}
Issuance of non-vested
stock . ........ .. " 370,929 4 -— — — —_ 4
Exercise of employee
stock options,
including related ‘
excess income tax
benefits ......... —_ 1 — — 144 145
Stock compensation
expense .. ....... — 1,478 — — _ 1,478
Balance, December 31, _
2006 ............. 50,066,628 $501 $101,077 $(77,.849) $ 280 $(703) $ 23,306

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
* CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF -CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands) -

For the Fiscal Year Ended

December 31,

L 2006

Jamvary 1,
2006

January 2,
2005

Operating Activities:
Net Joss . ... e e e

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities

$ (30539) $ (22.398) §$ (6.499)

See Notes to Consolidated. Financial Statements,
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Depreciation and amortization . . .. ...... ... .. . i s 12,466 12,118 . 11,055
Deferred iNCOME 18XES . . . . . .. ittt ittt it a st era s ea s 21,380 (9,007 (3,394)
Non-cash Testructuring charges. . . .. .. .. ittt i e 201 , 904 75
Asset impairment charges . .. ... ... . i — 10,886 - 2,200
Stock compensation EXPense . ... ... ..o e 1,478 — —
Gain on sale of property and equipment .. . ........... .. .. e (18) 339 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: :
ACCOUNES TeCeivable . . . ot e e e, (266) 3,410 5,894
Recoverable inCOME 1aXes . ... .. ittt ittt s e ieininne e - — 264 (89)
Other CUITENt 8818, . . v v v vt it ettt st s e e annns (2,190) 599 (1,289)
Accounts payable . . . .. ... e (669) 14 ' (502)
. Accrued payroll and related items . . . ... ... L i 1,834 2,279 (3,319)
Income taxes payable . ............... e — 748 (1,323)
Accrued Tiabililies . . . . .« . .o\t 1,229 1444 (2,629
Other assets and liabilities . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... {2,638) 1,231 310
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities . ... .............. 2.268 (2,405) 490
Investing Activities: o .
Purchase of property and equipment, net. . . ... .. e e e (10,713) (8,699) . (11,206)
. Net proceeds from sale of property and equipment . .. .. .. .. e L 1,976 1,071 V—
Net cash used in investing activities . .......... ... (8,737) (7,628) (11,206)
Financing Activities:
Borrowings under revolving credit facility . . . . . ....... ... ... . ... ..., 238,833 172,432 -—
Payments under revolving credit facility . ...... ... .. ... .. o ol (237,026) {160,461} _
Borrowingsonlongtermdebl ... ... ... .. . . e e 5,000 — -
Paymentsonlongtermdebt ........... ... ... ... e — (313) (389)
Financing costs . ................... e e — (822) (73)
Stock option transactions including related excess income tax benefits . ... .. 149 — 23
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . ............... 6,956 10,836 (441)
Effect of exchangeratesoncash . .......... ... ... ...l (142) (114) —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... ... ............ 345 689 (11.157)
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Beginning of year. . . ... ..t e e 960 271 . 11,428
End of Year . ... o e e s a5 1305 % 960 $ 271
Supplemental Disclosures: ' .
Cash payments forinterest . ... ... ... ... %0 . e Tienn.... $ 1,48 $ 671 $ 385
Cash payments for income taxes . .. ............ . ... i iiisiaarns 21 5 225
Income tax refund received . . ... ... .. L — 445 —
Leasehold improvements funded by landlord . . . .. ... ... . o oot 3,250 — —




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
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1. Description of Business . :

APAC Customer Services, Inc. (Company) is a ]eadmg customer care’ services and solutions provider to market
leaders in the healthcare, communications, business services, financial services, publishing, and travel and
entertainment industries. The Company prov1des service through mlhtlple communication channels. As of
December 31, 2006, the Company operated 11 customer care centers: seven domestic, one domestic client-owned
facility, and three international centers located in the Philippines. The domestic operations consist of approximately
4,700 workstations and the off-shore operations consist of approximately’ 2,100 workstations. The Company
consists of a single operating segment that offers customer care services and solutions to its-clients. -

The Company has sustained significant losses in fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004. In an effort to return the Company
to profitability, the Company initiated a restructuring plan in July 2005 to exit the outbound customer acquisition
business and focus primarily on inbound customer care services and solutions. Management of the Company
believes this allows the Company to focus its resources on profitable client relationships in a limited number of key
industries, improve near-term financial performance and position itself for long-term growth and profitability.

2. Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All
of the Company’s subsidiaries are wholly-owned and are included in the consolidated financial statements. The
Company’s off-shore customer care centers use their local currency, the Philippine peso, as their functional
currency. Assets and liabilities of off-shore customer care centers have been translated at period-end exchange rates,
and income and expenses have been translated using average exchange rates for the period. All inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. T o

Fiscal Year

The Comoany operates on a 52/53-week fiscal year that ends on the Sunday closest to Deccmb_or 31. All fiscal years
presented were 52 weeks, except for fiscal year 2004 which ended on January 2, 2005. Fiscal year 2004 was
53 weeks. The effect of the acditional week in fiscal year 2004 was to increase revenues and gross profit by $4,116
and $87, respectively, and increase operating loss by $336.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Estimates

Revenue recognition ' ’ ‘ e . ‘ ' _ '

The Company provides customer care services according to each client’s contract. It evaluates each contract to
determine the appropriate treatment for revenue recogaition in accordance with Security and Exchange Comumis-
sion (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”,
SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition” and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” The Company recognizes revenues only when there is evidence of
an arrangement, services have been provided, the price is fixed and determinable; and collection is considered
probable. Client contracts generally require that the Company bill for its services based on time spent by customer
service representatives or on a per call or per transaction basis. - :

Delivery of services to our clients generally entails an inittal implementation effort during which costs are incurred
in connection with information and telephony systems implementation, establishment of operating processes and
hiring and training of employees. Certain of the Company’s client contracts provide for payment of fees in
connection with some of these activities. The initial implementation effort is not considered a separate element as
defined by EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” Rather, these
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implementation activities, together with the ongoing service delivery, constitute a single unit of accounting for
which revenue is recognized using a propomonal performance method such as recognizing revenue based on
transactional services delivered or on'a straight- -line bisis, as appropnate Revenue recognized is l1m1ted to the
amount for Wthh the Company is contractually entltled to collect from 1ts chents

Certain client contracts do not provide for separate'payment of.fees for implementation activities; rather such fees
are implicitly included within the rates associated with the ongoing service delivery. For these arrangements, no
revenue is recognized related to the implementation activities and specific direct and incremental costs assocCiated
with the implementation-activities are deferred and amortized over the period the related ongoing services revenue
is recognized. _ o -

‘ ' . ' . . . R .

In many cases, the Company is subject to varying client quahty, service level, and performance standards, such as
average handle time, occupancy rate, abandonment rate, call quality, and customer satisfaction. The Company’s
performance against such standards may prov1de bonus opportunmes or conversely, may subject us to penalties;
which are recognized as earned or incurred. ' e

Cost of services

"The Company generally recognize costs associated with its customer care services as they are incurred in
accordance, with Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts, (SFAC) No. 5. “‘Recognition and Measurement
in Fmancml Sratements of Business Enrerpnse " Cost of services include direct labor  telephone and other facdlty
expenses directly related to prov1dmg customer care services to our clients, ) ] :

Delivery of services to the Company’s clients generally entails an'initial implenentation’ effort during which costs
are incurred in connection with information and telephony systeins implementation, establishment: of operating
processes and hiring and training of employees.-Cenain: of the Company’s client contracts provide for payment of
fecs in connection with some of these activities and, in such instances, related costs are expensed as incurred.
Certain client contracts do not provide for separate payment of fees for implementation activities. For these
arrangements specific direct and incremental costs associated with the implementation activities are deferred and
amortized over the period the related ongomg services revenue 1s recognized. Such contracts have been minimal
through December 31, 2006, and lhus unamornzed costs are not material at December 31, 2006.

Restructuring charges

Under the provisions of SFAS No. 146 “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” the
Company records a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when a liability is incurred. A
restructuring charge may be recognized for certain employee termination benefits and other costs when the Company
exits an activity. The restructuring charge is based on an estimate ‘of severance costs to be paid-to termmated
employees and costs assocnated w:th termination of lease obllganons net of estlmated sublease rental incomeé.

. bl
Allowance for doublful accaunts

The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based ona quanerly assessmem of the probable esumated
losses in trade accounts receivable. This estimate is based on specific allowances for certain identified receivables
and an additional allowance for estimated losses on all other receivables based on their age and collection history.
The Company cha:ges off uncollecuble accounts when it has exhausted all p0551ble collection efforts,

f R

i e *

Accountmg Jor employee beueﬁts .

The Company records.a liability for group health and workers’ compensation clalms based on an estimate of clzums
incurred, but not reported, as well as asserted claims at the end of the reporting period. This estimae is derived from
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an analysis performed by actuaries hired by the Company who have expertise in this area, Changes in the employee
mix and unforeseen events could result in an adjustment to these estimates.

The balances of these accounts, which are included in accrued liabilities, at December 31, 2006 and January 1,

2006, were:
2006 2005
| Group Health INSUrance . ... ... .ot i et e e enas $1,220  $2,268
| Workers’ COMPENSALION . . -« .« o e v et e e e et e $2,705  $3,010

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Under the asset and liability method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. A valuation
allowance is recorded when the Company believes it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized in the near term. The Company records a reserve for tax contingencies unless it believes it is
probable that the deductions giving rise to these contingencies will be sustained if challenged by taxing authorities.

Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid, short-term investments readily convertible to cash.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Accounting for long-lived assets

The Company’s long-lived assets consist primarily of property and equipment and intangible assets. In addition to
the original cost of these assets, their recorded value is impacted by a number of policy elections made by the
Company, including estimated useful lives and salvage values. Any decision by the Company to reduce capacity by
closing customer care centers or to abandon assets may result in a write-off of the net book value of the affected
assets. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the Company records impairment charges on long-lived assets used
in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired and the undiscounted cash
flows estimated to be generated by those assets ‘are less than the carrying amount of those assets. In this
circumstance, the impairment charge is determined based upon the amount the net book value of the assets
exceeds their fair market value. In making these determinations, the Company utilizes certain assumptions,
including, but not limited to, ‘the estimated fair market value of the assets, which are based on additional
assumptions such as asset utilization, length of time the asset will be used in the Company’s operations and
estimated salvage values. )

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis, using estimated useful lives of
up to 15 years for buiidings, the life of the’lease for leasehold improvements, 3 to 7 years for telecommunications
equipment, and 3 to 7 years for workstations and office equipment. Total depreciation expense for property and
equipment for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $8,020, $7,522 and $6,830 respectively.
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' December 31, January 1,
2006

2006

Building and leasehold improvements. ................... ... e $ 17,989 $ 24,556
Telecommunications equUIPIMEnt . ... .. ... ...ttt eanerarnennn 46,349 46,659
Workstations and office equipment . . .. ...... ... .. .. o, 11,064 13,178
Capitalized software. . . ... ... ... 22,989 21914
Construction in Progress. . . .. ..ottt i it i i 2,751 525
Accumulated depreciation and amortization . ................ . . ... (77,212) (85,296)

Property and equipment, Net. ... ... ... ..ureerenaerniiaennann. $ 23,930 $ 21,536

Capitalized Software

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to the purcl'iaae and installation of computer software and for
internally. developed software for internal use in accordance with Statement of Position No. 98-1 “Accounting for
Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. * Amortization is provided on a straight-line
basis over estimated useful lives of up to 3 years. The Company had $3.2 million and $3.7 million of unamortized
capitalized software costs as of December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006, respectively. Amortization expense for
capitalized software costs in fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $2,099, $2,249 and $1,902 respectively.

Goodwill

Under SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company is required to test all existing goodwill
for impairment at least annually and more frequently if circumstances require. As a result of the Company’s July
2005 restructuring, during the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $10.5 million
to reduce the carrying value of goodwill to its estimated fair value. The Company’s policy is to test goodwill for
impairment on an annual basis. The Company tested the goodwill for impairment in 2006, resulting in no further
impairment being recorded. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $13.3 million of goodwill. Under the
provisions of SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized. .

Intangible Asset . L ' '

The identifiable intangible assct of the Company represents acquired customer relauonshnps with a jgross carrying
value of $28.5 million and accumulated amortlzatmn of $20.5 million and $18.2 million as of fiscal year end 2006
and 2005, respectlvely Under the pl‘()VlSlOl‘lS of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, the
Company amortizes’ intangible assets with definite Lives, such as customer relatmnshlp intangible asséts, over their
estimated uséful lives. The Company evaluates the remaining useful life of its customer relationships balance at
least annually to determine ‘whether events or c1rcumstances warrant a revision to the remaining amortization
period. The customer relatlonshlp intangible asset is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected
period of benefit of 12 years. Total amortization of mtanglblc assets for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 ‘was
$2.3 ‘million per year. Annual amortization expense for the existing customer relationships intangible asset is
expected to be $2.3 million for each fiscal year from 2007 through 2009 and $1.0 million in fiscal year 2010.

The Company is required to test all intangible assets for impairment under the provisions of SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. " If impairment indicators are present, the
Company will perform an cvaluat:on fori 1mpa1rment at that time. Under SFAS No. 144 the evaluation of i impairment
is based upon a ccomparison of the carrying amount of the mtanglblc asset to the cstlmated future undiscounted net
cash flows expectéd to be gcnerated by the asset. If estimated future undlscountcd net cash flows are less than the
carrying amount of the asset, the asset is considered impaired. The impairment expense is determined by comparing
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the estimated fair value of the intangible asset to its carrying value, with any shortfall from fair value recognized as
an expense in the current period. Based on the Company s evaluation, no |mpa1rment charges have been recognized
for fiscal years 2004 through 2006.

Financial Information about Industry Segments l

The Company has one reportable segment and, therefore, all egment-related financial information required by
Statement of Financial’ Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information,™is included-in the consolidated financial statements. The reportable segment reflects the
Company’s operating and reporting structure. . "

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2006, the Company had a share-based incentive compensation plan for employees and non-
employee directors, which authorized the granting of various equity-based incentive awards, including stock
options and non-vested common shares. The number of common shares reserved for issuance under the plan was
11.8 million at December 31, 2006, of which 2.8 million shares are available for future grants.

Effective January 2, 2006, the Company adopted FASB Statement No. 123(R) “Share-Based Paymenr”
(SFAS No. 123(R)). Prior to fiscal year 2006, as permitted under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based

-Compensation,” the Company accounted for its stock compensation plans according to Accounting Principles

Board (APB) Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. The
Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective
transition method, and therefore, it has not restated its prior period financial statements.

Under the medified prospective transition method, compensation expense is recognized for all share-based payment
awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 2, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated in
accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” In addition,

stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards newly awarded after January 2, 2006 is
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation
expense related to share-based awards, net of a forfeiture rate, is amortized ona straight-line bas:s over the requisite
employees service periods in selling, general and administrative expenses in, the consohdated statements of
operations in accordance with the classification of the related employees’ compensation and benefits. The Company
estimated the forfeiture rate, volatility and expected life for all awards based on its experience during | the preceding
fiscal years. The interest rate is based on the 10-year treasury bond. Total stock-based compensanon expense was
$1.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. The recogmzed tax benefit wag $0.6 miltion for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006, there was $2. i ‘million of unrecogmzed compensation
cost related to unvested awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
three years.

Options to purchase common shares are granted with an exercise price equa] to the average of the hlgh and low
market price of the Company’s common shares on the date of the grant. Substantlal[y all of theé options become
exercisable between one to five years after the grant date and generally expire ten years from the grant date.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, the Company awarded 477,529 non-vested common shares to
employees at a weighted average value per share of $1.57. The vast majority of the non-vested common shares vest
from two to five years from the grant date provided that certain performance or market condition thresholds are met
by the Company.

In. November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board {FASB) issued Financial- Statement Position
No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election‘Related to:Accounting for.the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards”
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(FSP No. 123(R)-3). This pronouncement provides an alternative method of calculating excess tax benefits
available to absorb any tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). The Company
has evaluated FSP No. 123(R)-3 and determined that any one-time election is not expected to materially affect
operating income or net earnings.

Prior to January 2, 2006 for stock-based employee compensation plans, described in more detail in Note 13, the
Company used the intrinsic value method prescribed by APB No. 25. This resulted in no compensation expense
recognized for stock options issued to employees and non-employee directors when the option price equaled or
exceeded the fair market value of the Company’s common shares on the date of grant.

The following table illustrates the pro-forma effect on net loss and earnings per share as if the Company had adopted
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 for fiscal years 2005 and 2004, respectively:

2005 2004
Net loss as reported . .. ..o r ittt e e e $(22,398) $%(6,499)
Less — compensation expense on stock options, net of income tax benefit .. ......... 927y  (1,381)
Net1oss pro fOrma . .. ... ... . i i e e e e $(23,325) .%(7,380)
Loss per share — basic
ASTEPORE . . . o . e e $ (045 8 (0.13)
ProfOIMNA . . o oot ettt e e e e e $ (047) $ (0.16)
Loss per share — diluted - .
AS TEPOIEA . . . ottt e e $ (045 § (0.13)
o Vo g oy 11 T e $ (047) $ (0.16)

New Accounting Pronouncements

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes: An interpretation of FASB Statememt No. 109 (FIN 48) on July 13, 2006. FIN 48 clarifies
Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to indicate the criterion that an individual tax position would have
to meet for some or all of the benefit of that p‘osition to be recognized in an entity’s financial statements. In applying
FIN 48, an entity is required to evaluate a tax position using a two-step process. First, the entity should evaluate the
position for recognition. An entity should recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position if it dgtemfines
that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on examination. Next, the entity should measure the
amount of benefit that should be recognized for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not test. FIN48is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 13, 2006. The Company has evaluated the effect FIN 48 will
have on its financial statements and believes the effects will not be material. ‘ ‘

4. Comprehensive Income/Loss

Comprehensive loss for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

2006 2005 2004

NEEIOSS. . ..t e $(30,539)  $(22,398) $(6,499) !
Foreign currency translation gain (loss)(1) .................. 344 109 on
Total comprehensive 1085 . . ... ..ot . $(30,195) $(22,289) $(6,590)

(1) The foreign currency translation gains in fiscal year 2006 and 2005 and toss in fiscal year 2004 relate to the
impact of a change in exchange rates on net assets located outside of .the United States.

54




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except share data and as otherwise indicated)

5. Significant Clients - . . e e
The Company’s ten largest clients collectively accounted for 88% and 77% of the Company’s revenue in fiscal years
2006 and 2005, respectively. Clients that were individually responsible for 10% or more of the Company’s revenues

for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 were as follows: - ' . . .

2006 2005 20M.
WellPoint . ...... P e e e e et e e 19.5% 6.1% —% -
Verizon. Wireless ...... .. e e N S D S 174 1 108 5.7
United Parcel Services, Inc. .............. L S S ..o 155 0 128 0 10.0¢
Citigroup, In€. ... ..ot AR S LOl... 6801027 106
T-Mobile USA.............. A © 39 1060 123

Total oL b e AN 63.1% 50.5% . 386%

-.

Accounts receivable related 1o these significarit clients as a pércentagje‘ of net accounts receivable-at the end of fiscal
year 2006 and 2005, respectively, were: :

K ' Percent of Net
' i ' © v, Accounts
; . L ' 2006 2005
WellPoint .. ........ .. fiinnnnain... T 263% 272%
Verizon WIreless . ;4 . ... ... oo T S 207 134
United Parcel Services, Inc .. ... ... ... . ... ... ..o o ool 70 9r
. CGitigroup, Inc. .. ... ... R 7.2 9.5
T-Mobile USA. ... ..... T P s == 50
Total .\, DU cele L 612% 642%
, - g
i
6. Supplemental Balance Sheet Data
December 31, January 1,
Consolidated Balance Sheet 2006 2006
Prepaid expenses . .. .. ... ... $ 5,066 $4,270
Non-trade receivables. . ... .. it i e e e 1,651 258
Deferred tax assefs. . ... ... ittt et e e e — 4,720
Oher CUITENL AS5ETS .« . .\ o ot e e e e e e e e et e e e $ 6,717 $9,248
Deferred tent . . . . . .. .. . $ 3,070 $ —
Accrued workers cCOmpensation .. .......... ...t 2,705 3,010
Restructuring charges. .. ... ... ... .. it i i i 2,032 2,806
Accrued professional fees. .. ... ... L 837 659
Accrued property 1aX . .. ... e 261 737
Other accrued labilities . .. ... ... .. . . e 3,983 2,598
Accrued liabilities . ... ... ... ... ... .. $12,888 $9.810
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The January 1, 2006 balance of accrued restructuring charges included $0.7 million related to the write-off of
property and leasehold improvements from the July 2005 restructuring plan. The amount has been reclassified as a
reduction of property and equipment, :

7. Restructunng and Other ChargeslAsset Impairment Charges
Restructuring Charges

The Company recorded $2.4 million of restructuring and other charges in fiscal year 2006. During the year, the
Company closed four customer care centers with approximately 960 workstations. Restructuring and other charges
associated with these closures were $1.8 million comprised of lease termination and other costs of $0.8 million, the
write down of property and equipment of $0.5 million net of reductions from the proceeds from the sale of related
assets, and severance costs of $0.5 million related to the elimination of 119 administrative and support positions.
The Company also recorded additional charges of $0.9 million related to the 2005 restructuring as a result of delays
in subletting space in its corporate office, which charges were partially offset by a reversal of $0.3 million of prior
year charges not utilized. Cash payments totaling $1.5 million have been made through December 31, 2006 and the
remaining cash charges, primarily related to lease termination costs, are payable through-2008.

The Company recorded $8.2 million of restructuring and other charges in fiscal year 2005 which included
$7.7 million of restructuring charges and $0.5 million of other charges. The restructuring charges consisted of
$4.9 million and $0.5 million, respectively, for the write-off of property and lease termination and other costs
associated with the reduction of the Company’s corporate office space in Deerfield, Illinois and the closure of seven
additional customer care centers and $2.3 million in severance costs related to the elimination of administrative and
support positions. Cash payments totaling $4.8 million relating to the 2005 restructuring have been paid through
December 31, 2006 and the remaining $1.7 million of cash charges, primarily related to lease termination costs, are
payable in fiscal years 2007 and 2008,

Restructuring charges totaled $2.0 million in fiscal year 2004, partlally offset by the reversal of $0.2 million in prior

year charges not utilized. The restructuring charges consisted of $1.5 million in severance costs related to the
elimination of administrative and support positions and $0.5 million for the write-off of property and lease
termination and other costs associated with the closure of three customer care centers.” Cash payments totaling
$1.8 million relating to the 2004 restructuring have been paid through December 31, 2006 and no remaining
payments are outstanding.

*
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Following is a summary of the fiscal year 2006 activity in the current and long-term reserves established in
connection with the Company’s restructuring initiatives: - . :

L

Lease
Severance Asset .Obligations
i _ Costs Write-ofl and Other Total

Restructuring Reserve, December 28, 2003 L © % 1,407 $ 48 $1,598  $3,053

Total eXPense . . . . ool e e ©1,309 242 322 1,873

Total adjustments .. ....... .. ... ... .. .. — _ (290) — (290)

Total payments . . .......... R (2,154) — (1,839) (3,993)
Restfucturing Reserve, January 2,2005. .. .............. ' 562 — 8l 643

Total expense . ... . .l i e . 02,300 0 ,89%4 - 4544.. 1,738

Total adjustments ... ... ... ... .. ... _ —_ (894) —_ (894)

Total paYMEeNntS . . . ..ot e it e e e e (2,153) — (636) (2,789)
Restructuring Reserve, January 1,2006. . ............... 709 _— 3,989 4,698

Total BXpense . . . ... vt e e e 225 501 1,658 © 2,384

Total adjustments . . ... ... ... i e s (88) (486) 787 . 213

Tot_al PAYIMENTS . . ot vt e et i et et e e e e e e e (839) 5 (3,284) (4,118)
Restructuring Reserve, December 31,2006 .............. $ 7 $ 20 $ 3,150 $ 3,177

Asset Impairment Charges

In fiscal year 2005, the Company recorded $10.9 million of asset impairment charges, including a write-down of
goodwill of $10.5 million. The Company also recorded $2.2 million of asset impairment charges during fiscal year
2004 relating to the write-off of unutilized software and telecommunications equipment.

As a result of the Company’s July 2005 restructuring, the Company performed an interiim impairment test of
goodwill in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005. The Company obtained a third-party valuation of the Company and
compared that valuation to its book value. The amount of impairment was determined by allocating the estimated
fair value of the Company to its assets and liabilities and comparing the unallocated residual to the carrying cost of
goodwill. The residual value was less than the carrying value of goodwill and as such an impairment charge of
$10.5 million was recorded for the shortfall. The remaining carrying value of goodwill after the impairment charge
is $13.3 million. The Company has also performed its annual test for goodwill impairment in 2006 and has
determined that goodwill is not further impaired. : |

8. Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and'2004 consistéd of the following:

X

' : MR LS . . . AT 2006 - 2005 1 2004

Current provision (benefit) .. ... . .. e . $  — $ (153) $ (729)
Deferred provision (benefit)-. .. .. e e - 21,380 (9,007) (3,394)
T(_Jtal provision (benefit) for income taxes . . . . ] A T $21,380  $(9.160) $(4,123)
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) to the actual effective income tax expense
(benefit) for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows:

2006 2005 2004
U.S. Statutory tax expense (benefit) —rate 35%) ... ........... $(3,206) $(6,832) $(3,718)
U.S. State taxes, net of U.S. Federal benefit and state credits . .. ... (359) (871) (‘446)
Work opportunity tax credits. . .. ... .. o L L ©42) (1,725 —
011 1T~ 381 268 41
Valuation afllowancerecorded .. ........ ... i, 25,206 —_ —
Actual tax expense (benefit) .......... ... ... c.iaiiia... $21,380 $(9,160) $(4,123)

The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31, January 1,
2006 2006 |

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss and credit carryforwards ... .................. .. $ 15485 %13,878
DEPIECIALION .« . & e v v et et e et e e e e e e 3,146 2,577
Self insurance related COSIS .. ... it i e, 1,395 1,802
DEErted ML . .« .« o s ot e e e e e 1,203 ' —
Payroll related items B e e e 1,098 924
Restructuring charge ...... oot 1,013 1,703
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ...........c.ciriinn, 578 752
Stock compensation eXPense . ... ... ..ot 477 —
Intangible assets. . . ......... N PR 358 —_—
10 711 575 644
Total deferred tax assets . . . ... ........... U, 25,328 22,280 °
Deferred tax liabilities ........ e EREEREEREPRE . :(122) ‘ (1,323)
Valuation allowance . . .. ... i (25,206) —

Net deferred tax assets . . ... ... i it ieineiiiennenns i b — $20,957

As of December 31, 2006 the Company is in a cumulative loss position for the prior twelve quarters. This was
primarily the result of losses incurred with the exited outbound customer acquisition business. in July 2003, the
Company announced a strategic restructuring to exit virtually all of the outbound customer acquisition business,
restructure operations, and focus primarily on profitable client relationships in a limited number of key industries.
Since its restructuring, the Company has experienced earnings growth from its core business, new and increased
commitments from existing clients, and reductions in operating expenses. These factors are expected to contribute
to the Company’s sustaining profitability for 2007 and future periods. Forecasted taxable income based solely on
contracts in place at December 31, 2006 and the existing cost.structure does not exceed the amount necessary to
fully realize the net deferred tax asset within three years or less. Due to uncertainty in the ability to realize forecasted
earnings a valuation allowance of $25.2 million has been established as of December 31, 2006. In the future, it may
be necessary for.the Company to adjust the valuation allowance based upon actual results achieved.

In October 2003, the Company received an $11.6 million cash tax refund associated with the write-off for tax
purposes in 2002 of its remaining investment in ITI Holdings, Inc. (ITI}. The Internal Revenue Service has audited
the Company’s 2002 tax return and proposed an adjustment that would disallow this deduction. The Company
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believes that it has sufficient support for the deduction and intends.to pursue its available remedies. On Novem-
ber 30, 2005, the Company filed a protest contesting the proposal adjustment and requesting a hearing with an
Internal Revenue Service Appeals Officer. At this point, it is unclear as to how this issue will ultimately be resolved.
Although the Company has not recognized the income tax benefit related to this deduction and has previousty
recorded a liability for the amount of the refund, should it not prevail in this matter, the Company may be required to
pay some or all of the previously received refund of $11.6 million, as well as interest related thereto which
approximated $2.6 million at December 31, 2006. The timing of any repayment of the previously received refund
could have a material adverse effect on the liquidity of the Company, require it to seek additionat financing to fund
the repayment, and result in a default under its loan agreements discussed in Notes 9 and 17.

9. Long-Term Debt

The Company had no long-term debt outstanding as of January 1, 2006. Long-term ‘debt outstandmg as of
.December 31, 2006 consisted of the following:

December 31,
2006
Term loan, interest rate of prime plus 475 basispoints. . .. ................. e $5,000
Total long-term debt . .. . . . .. PR PR F U 5,000
Less — current maturities . . ................... . e 600
Long-termdebt, met. .. ............. ... ... ... ........ e 34,400

As of December 31, 2006, the carrying value of future debt obligations reasonably approximates their fair value and
the principal payments of long-term debt are due as follows

200 . e e e $ 600
2008 . e e e e e e 1,200
2009 . ... L R 1,200
000,000 D 1,200
L 800
Thereafter . . ... .......... N PN o
Total payments ... ... ... e e R $5,000

As of Janvary 3, 2005, the Company had a revolving credit facility (Original Credit Agreement) which was
scheduled to expire in December 2005. The Original Credit Agreement provided $50 million of total credit
availability and actual availability varied monthly based on the level of eligible receivables at the end of the
preceding month. As of January 3, 2005, there were no outstanding borrowings under the Original Credit
Agreement and approximately $3.2 million was utilized through the issuance of standby letters of credit primarily
to support insurance reserves. Total available borrowing capacity at January 3, 2005 was $25.2 million.

The Original Credit Agreement was secured principally by a grant of a security interest in all personal property and
fixtures of the Company. Under the terms of the Original Credit Agreement, the Company was also required to
maintain certain financial covenants which limited the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness,
repurchase outstanding common shares, create liens, acquire, sell or dispose of certain assets, engage in certain
mergers and acquisitions, pay d1v1dends and make certam restricted payments.

Borrowings under the Original Credit Agreement incurred a floating interest rate usually based on the LIBOR index
rate, although the Company had the option of using an alternate base rate defined in the Original Credit Agreement.
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In addition, the Company paid a commitment fee on the unused portion of the revo]vmg fac111ty as well as quanerly
fees on the outstanding letters of credit. Cot : P S

On June 2, 2005, the Compan_y entered into a new Loan and Security Agreement (Laéalle Credit Agreement) with
LaSalle Bank National Association, as-agent (LaSalle) that replaced the Original Credit Agreement. The terms of
the LaSalle Credit Agreement prov1ded for upto a $40 million revolving credit facility that would have expired in
June 2008. The outstandmg revolving loan commitment under the LaSalle Credit Agreement was $25 million based
on the Company’s anticipated cash requirements. Borrowmg avallabrhty was based on accounts receivable and was
subject to certain restrictions and limitations set forth in the LaSalle Credlt Agreement. ., , 4. 4

On July 27, 2005, the Company entered into Waiver and Amendment No. Three (Waiver) to the LaSalle Credit
Agreement. Under the terms of the Waiver, LaSalle agreed to waive certain existing and anticipated events of
defaylt under the LaSalle Credit Agreement, amend the financial covenants contained in the LaSalle Credit
Agreement and provide an over advance facility in an amount not to exceed $11.0 million, Theodore G. Schwartz,
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company, guaranteed $5.5 mitlion of the over advance facility, plus
certain costs and expenses.

On October 31, 2005, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (Restated
LaSalle Credit Agreement) with LaSalle, as agent, and the financial institutions from time to time parties thereto as
lenders. Under the terms of the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, LaSalle agreed, among other thmgs io provide
the Company with a $25 million revolving loan facility which would have expired in October 2008, réduce the
interest rates and other fees, amend the financial covenants and release the guarantee that had been provided by
Theodore G. Schwartz.

'

On March 3, 2006 the Company and LaSaIle entered mto an amendment (Amendment No 1} to the Restated
LaSalle Credit Agreement. Amendment No. 1 was effective as of February 21, 2006. Under the terms of
Amendment No. 1, LaSalle agreed to relieve the Company of its obligation to comply with the excess availability
covenant in the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement through April 30, 2006. This covenant reduced the Company’s
borrowing capacity pending achievement of first quarter operating results. Subsequently, the Company.successfully
met the requirements set forth in the Restated LaSalie Credit Agreement, and the excess availability requirement no
longer applies. '

o F

On April 25, 2006, the Company and LaSalle entered into a second amendment (Amendment No. 2) to the Restated
LaSalle Credit Agreement. Amendment No. 2 was effective as of April 2, 2006. Under the terms of Amendment
No. 2, LaSalle agreed to amend certain financial covenants related to capital expenditures. The amendment clarified
that the Company’s fixed charge coverage covenant calculation would not be 1mpacted by the amount of the
leasehold 1mprovemcnt allowance provided to the Company by its landlord for its Green Bay facrhty

On June 6, 2006, the Company and LaSalle entered into a thlrd amendment (Amendment No 3) to the Restated

LaSalle Credit Agreement. Amendment No: 3 was effective as of June 2, 2006. Under the terms of Amendment
No. 3, LaSalle agreed to amend certain financial covénants, mcludmg ‘the mdebtedness interest coverage;
minimum fre¢ cash flow, maximum restructuring ¢hirge and fixed charge coverage' covenants, and to increase
the concentration of: eligible accounts for certain account debtors.. The amendment reduced the threshglds for
compliance with certain financial covenants and provided increased borrowing availability against certain accounts
receivable. N _ LT e e y
On October 25 2006 the Company and LaSaile entered intg a fourth amendment (Amendment No. 4) to the
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement. Amendment No, 4 was effective as of October l 2006. Under the terms of
Amendment No.-4, LaSalle agreed to increase the maximum amount which could be borrowed under the Restated
LaSalle’ Credit . Agreement from $25 'million to $27.5 million,.amend the definitions .of cdpital expenditures,
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EBITDA and special litigation reserve, amend certain financial covenants, including tangible net worth, maximum
cash restructuring charge and fixed charge coverage covenants, and to eliminate the interest coverage covenant.

On November 10, 2006, the Company and LaSalle entered into the fifth amendment (Amendment No. 5) to the
Restated LaSalle Credit ‘Agreement. Under the terms of Amendment No. 5, LaSalle agreed to increase the
maximum amount that could be borrowed under the revolving loan facility from $27.5 million to $30 million and to
reduce certain reserve requirements under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement through December 31, 2006.

On December 5, 2006, the Company and LaSalle entered into the sixth amendment (Amendment No. 6) to the
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement. Under the terms of Amendment No. 6, LaSalle agreed to increase the
maximum revolving loan limit from $30 million to $35 million on December 5, 2006 and ultimately to $37.5 million
on April 1, 2007 through the addition of three special accommodations (Special Accommeodations) totaling
$12.5 million. The maximum revolving loan limit consisted of two components and the Company could have
borrowed: (i) up to $30 million, decreasing to $25 million on January 1, 2007, based on the amount of eligible
accounts receivable from its clients; and (ii) an additional $5 million, increasing to $10 million on January 1, 2007
and further increasing to $12.5 million on April 1, 2007 under the Special Accommodations. The Special
Accommodations and the maximum revolving loan limit would have begun to reduce monthly on July 31,
2007 by an amount specified in the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement as amended by Amendment No. 6; provided
that the maximum revolving loan limit would never be less than $27.5 million. Since the Special Accommodations
were not dependent on the amount of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable from clients, based on
management’s expectations on December 5, 2006, Amendment No. 6 increased the Company’s borrowing capacity
under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement by $5 mitlion as of December 5, 2006 and $10 million as of January 1,
2007 and would have increased the Company’s borrowing capacity by $12.5 million as of April 1, 2007.

Under the terms of Amendment No. 6 to the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, LaSalle also agreed to adjust
certain financial covenants by amending the definitions of capital expenditures, EBITDA and fixed charges;
eliminate the tangible net worth covenant; add an EBITDA covenant and a leverage covenant; and amend certain
other covenants, including the maximum restructuring cash disbursements covenant, and fixed charge coverage
covenant. '

The Company’s ability to borrow under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 6,
depended on the amount of eligible accounts receivable from its clients and there were limitations on the
concentration of these accounts with a single client. In addition, LaSalle retained certain reserves against otherwise
available borrowing capacity, including a reserve related to the Internal Revenue Services’ proposed adjustment to
our 2002 tax return described in Note §.

Other restrictive covenants in the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, as amended by Amendment No. 6, limited
the Company’s ability to make capital expenditures, incur additional indebtedness, repurchase outstanding common
shares, create liens, acquire, sell or dispose of certain assets, engage in certain mergers and acquisitions, pay
dividends and make certain restricted payments. The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants as of
December 31, 2006.

Borrowings under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, as amended, incurred a floating interest rate based on the
LIBOR index rate or an alternate base rate defined in the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the
Special Accommodations bore a higher rate of interest than borrowings under the revolving loan facility. The loans
provided under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement were secured principally by a grant of a security interest in
all of the Company’s personal property and fixtures. In addition, the Company paid a commitment fee on the unused
portion of the revolving loan facility as well as fees on $4.0 million of outstanding letters of credit.

Borrowings under the Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement, as amended, totaled $18.8 millicn as of December 31,
2006. The Company had approximately $11.3 million of unused borrowing capacity as of December 31, 2006,
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Interest rates on the Company’s borrowings during fiscal year 2006 accrued at the weighted-average rate of
approximately 8.2% under the revolving loan facility and approximately 12.5% under the Special
Accommodations.

On January 31, 2007, the Company and LaSaile entered into: (i) a Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security
Agreement (Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement); and (ii) a Second Lien Loan and Security Agreement
{Second Lien Loan Agreement.) See Note 17 for more ‘information. .

The Company expects that its cash balances, cash flows from operations and available borrowings under the Second
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and the Second Lien Loan Agreement will be sufficient to meet projected
operating needs, fund any planned capital expenditures, and repay debt obligations as they coime due. A significant
change in operating cash flow, a failure to sustain profitability or an adverse outcome in the Company’s pending
dispute with the Internal Revenue Service could have a material adverse effect on its liquidity and its ability to
comply withi the covenants in the Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and the Second Lien Loan Agreement.

]

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

| . B
The Company leases its customer care centers, administrative offices and certain equipment under operating leases.
Rent expense for fiscal -years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $5,481, $7,786 and $8,693, respectively.

On October 10, 2006 the Company sold its Cedar Rapids, Towa facility in a sale-leaseback transaction that resulted
in a net gain of $(.8 million. In accordance with SFAS No. 28 “Accounting for Sales with Leaseback” the gain will
be deferred and amortized over terms from six months to ten years based on the individual lease-back agreements,

Minimum future rental payments for real estate and equipment, including common area maintenance commitments,
at December 31, 2006, are as follows: ’ ' )

Operating Leases

2007 . e e e e e e $ 8541...
2008 ... [ R S e - 6,314
2009 . .. ©3987 H
2000000 e . 3,086
1 1 2,235
Years thereafter . ... .. ... . .. . e ot 8,909
Total payments ........ e . L e O $33,132

. + .
Telecommunications Commitments

.o ' 1

The Company has contracts with its telecommunications providers that require certain minimum usage each year of
the contract. At December 31, 2006, the commitments under these contracts are as follows:

Tota?
2007 . e P R $ 4,527
2008 . e e e e 3,929
2000 . e e e e e 3,500
Total COMIMUILMENTS. . . .. ...ttt ettt ean s et a i antatannnas $11,956
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Legal Proceedings :

The Company is subject to lawsuits, governmental investigations and claims arising out of the normal conduct of its
business. Management does not believe that the outcome of any pending claims will have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s business, results of operations, liGuidity or financial condition. Although management does not
believe that any such proceeding w1ll result in a material adverse effect, no assurance ‘to that effect can be given.

On June 30, 2005 the Company settled a pending arbitration procecdmg with Harmon Glass Soluuons (“Harmon™)
which arose out of a breach of contract claim by Harmon. The Company maintained that it had performed its
obligations and claimed that Harmon had breached its contractual obligations to the Company. The vast majority of
the settlement was paid by the Company’s msurancc carrier. .

See Note 8 for a description of the Company’s pendmg dlspute with thc Internal Revenue Semce

Training Bonds o .7 o o

—

At the end of fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company had guaranteed the repayment of $0, $204 and $242,
respectively, of the remaining outstanding community college bond obligations which were issued'in connection
with various job-training agreements. The Company evaluates whether deposits rmade into escrow will be adequate
to cover the cost of the maturing bonds. At December 31, 2006 and J anuary 1 -2006 the Company had a liability of
$0 and $83, respcctwely, related to trammg bond obllgatmns —

PR . 11 ' P Ve

T

11, Shareholders’ Equity

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (a) 200 million cornmon shares, $.01 par vatue per share, of
which 50,066,628 were issued as of December 31, 2006; and (b) 50 million preferred shares, $.01 par value per
share, of which no shares have been issued. In fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004, treasury shares of 41,000, 0 and
13,062 were issued through the Company’s Incentive Stock Plan. : :

12. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computations of basic and diluted loss per share:

2006 2005 2004
NEL10SS(1) - .. v e e e AT . $(30,539) $(22,398) $(6,499)
Weighted average common shares outstz'mding ............... 49,458 49,455 49,453
Losspershare —basic . ........ ... ... ... .. ... ... ... $ 062) § ' 045) $ (0.13)
Dilutive effect of stock options . ..... P ‘ - - —
Weighted average common and commaon equivalent shares
outstanding . . ... ... ... 49,458 49,455 49,453

Loss per share —diluted . . .. ......... ... ... ... ... ..., $ (062) $ (045 3% (0.13)

(1) Net loss is the same for purposes of calculating basic and diluted EPS.

In fiscal years 2006 and 2005 approximately 268,500 and 112,000 options were excluded from the computation of
diluted loss per share because they would have been anti-dilutive, At December 31, 2006, January 1, 2006 and
January 2, 2005 options to purchase common shares and non-vested common shares totaling 7.6 million, 7.7 million
and 5.4 million, at prices ranging from $0.00 to $16.75, $0.85 to $38.13 and $1.55 to $38.13 per share, were
excluded from the 2006, 2005 and 2004 calculations, respectively.
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13. Stock Awards

The 2005 Incentive Stock Plan (the “Plan”) adopted on June 3, 2005 replaced and superseded the Second Amended
and Restated 1995 Incentive Stock Plan. Under the Plan, directors, officers, key employees .and non-employee
consultants may be granted non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance shares and stock awards, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
A total of 11.8 million shares have been authorized for grant under the Plan. At December 31, 2006, 2.8 million
shares were available for future grant under the Plan. The exercise price of stock options granted under the Plan may
not be less than 100% of the fair market value of the common shares on the date of grant. Options under the Plan
expire no later than 10 years after date of grant.

Effective in the third quarter of fiscal year 2003, the option program for non-employee directors was revised. Under
the revised program, each director receives four quarterly grants of an equal number of options. The number of
options granted is determined once each year by dividing $90 by the average fair market value of the stock for the
previous year. The exercise price is the fair market value of the underlying stock on the date of the grant. In fiscal
years 2006 and 2005, non~employee directors received an aggregate of 420,112 and 244,589 options, respectively.

Prior to its January 2, 2006 adoption of Stalemenl No. 123(R) *“Share-Based Paymens” (SFAS No. 123(R)) the
Company applied APB No. 25 in accounting for stock options. No compensation expense had been recognized for
stock options when the option price equaled or exceeded the fair market value at the date of grant. In order to
calculate the pro forma information included earlier in Note 3, the fair value of each option was estimated on the
date of grant based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Assumptions included no dividend yield, risk-free
interest rates ranging from 4% to 5%, expected volatility ranging between 43% and 55%, and an expected term
ranging from 7 years to 8 years. Pro forma results of operations for fiscal years 2005 and 2004, which reflect the
adjustment to compensation expense to account for stock options in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), are
included in Note 3 under the caption “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”

The Company estimated the fair value of its new grants usmg the Black- Scholes option-pricing model with the
following assumptions:
For the Fiscal Year Ended

December 31, 2006
Non-vested
i Options Common Shares
Expected volatility . ... ... . . .. i e 51-57% N/A
Risk-free interest rate . . ... ... ... ..ttt 46-51% - N/A
Expected life in years. ... ... PR e 21-5.0 N/A
Annualized forfeiture rate . . .. . ............. PRI R 15.7% 15.7%
Weighted average grant date fairvalue . ....................... $0.89 $1.57
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Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity under the Company’s Incentive Stock plans for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was as

follows: .
Grant Price Weighted Average  Aggregate
: Range Exercise Price Intrinsic
Description Shares Per Share Per Share Value
Outstanding as of December 28,2003 ... 5,720,169 $1.59-$38.13, $4.27
Granted: ... ....... .. ... 1,207,119 1.55-3.03. 2.44
Exercised ........................ (13,062) 1.59-2.50 1.79
Cancelled ............. ... coovn... (1,655,200) 1.59-7.94 3.94
Outstanding as of January 2, 2005 . . .. .. 5,259,026 $1.55-$38.13 $3.96 '
Granted. . .. ... ... . i ey 6,425,090 0.85-1.74 - 141
-, Exercised............. ERTETIPRI - -, = : —
Cancelled ........................ (4,009,817) 1.06 - 15.31 270
Outstanding as of January 1, 2006 ... ... 7,674,299 $0.85-$38.13 $2.48 - °
Granted . . «. .. ... ... ... .. 720,112 1.80-2.84 . 2.21
- Exercised. .. ........ e ‘Lo... 0 (41,000) 1.55-3.57 2.10
Cancelled ........................... ‘» (1,091,446) 1.35-38.13 3.6l
Qutstanding as of Deceinber 31, 2006 .. | 7.261965  $0.85 - $16.75 $2.15 $12,745
Stock options exeftisable at ‘ :
December 31,2006 ... ... ... 2,611,419 $ 0.85-816.75 $3.16 $ 2976

The weighted average grant date fair valué of options granted in fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $0.89, $0.75

and $1.50 per share, respectively.

The followmg table summanzes information concerning stock options outstandmg as of December 31, 2006:

"o P . P B . Per Share Exercise Price Ranges Total
$0.85-$1.62 $1.63-53.47 $3.53-416.75 $0.85-$16.75
Outstanding as of December 31,2006 .. ... 4264276 2423046 574,643 * 7261965
. Weighted average rem(umng erm .. ... .. ‘ 8.39 6.83‘ 324 _ 7.46
Welghted average exercise price ......... 3 131 % 259 § 647 % 2.15

' Exerclsablc as of Dccember 31 2006 ... . 783,753 ' '1,253,023 574 643 2,611,419 -
Welghted average exercise pnce .......... $ 130§ 281 $ 647 3 316

65




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

{Dollars in thousands, except share data and as otherwise indicated)

Non-vested Common Share Activity Tt

Non-vested common share grant activity for fiscal year 2006 was ds follows:

Description Shares

Outstanding as of January 1, 2006(1). . . e —

Granted ....... e e ettt e e e e 477,529
Exercised ................ e e e e e e e e e —
Cancelled ...... e e e e e (106,600)
Qutstanding as of December 31,2006 . .. . ... ... ... i e 370,929

Exercisable at December 31, 2006. e e e e e e e ' _ —_

(1) The Company did not issue non-vested common shares in fiscal years 2005 and 2004.

The weighted average grant date fair value of non-vested common shares granted in fiscal year 2006 was $1.57.

14. Benefit Plans ) -

In October 1995, the Company adopted a 401 (k) savings plan. Employees meeting certain eligibility requirements
may contribute up to 15% of pretax gross wages, subject to certain restrictions. The contribution percentage was
increased to 25% in fiscal year 2005. The Company also.sponsors a non-qualified retirement plan (the *‘Select
Plan”) for senior employees. Those employees meeting the eligibility requirements as defined therein ,may
contribute up to 25% of their base wages across the 401(k) plan and the Select Plan, subject to certain restrictions.
The Company makes matching contributions of 50% of the first 6% of an employee’s wages contributed to these
plans. Company matching contributions vest 20% per year over a five-year period. For fiscal years 2006, 2005 and
2004, the ‘Company made matching contributions to the plans of $458, $563 and $641 respectively. _

15. Related Party Transactions

In 2005, the Cfofnpany reimbursed Theodore Schwartz, Chairman of the Board, for immaterial legal fees incurred in
connection with the guarantee of the overadvance facility of the LaSalle Credit Agreement discussed in Note 9.

The Company has a $124 investment in 2001 Development Corporation, a community-oriented economic
development company in Cedar Rapids, Iowa, of which Thomas M. Collins is the President. Mr. Collins is a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Coilins owns no interest in 2001 Development Corporation.

In fiscal year 2004, the Company provided $830 of customer care solutions to Scérs, Roebuck and Co. (Sears). Paul
J. Liska, who was the Executive Vice President and President, Credit and Financial Products for Sears, was a
member of the Board of Directors of the Company from July 2003 'until May 2004.

16. Reclassification

Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current period
presentation. Restructuring reserves of $0.7 million providing: for the write off of property and leasehold
improvements from the July 2005 restructering plan outstanding as of January 1, 2006 have been reclassified
as a reduction of property and equipment.

17. Subsequent Events

On January 31, 2007, the Company and LaSalle entered into: (i) a Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security
Agreement (Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement); and (ii) a Second Lien Loan and Security Agreement
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(Second Lien Loan Agreement.) The Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement provides the Company with a
$27.5 million revolving loan facility (Revolving Loan Facility) which expires in October 2010 and the Second Lien
Loan Agreement provides the Company with a $15 million term loan which matures in January 2011 (Term Loan.)
The proceeds of the term loan were used to repay indebtedness of the company under the Restated LaSalle Credit
Agreesment, dated October 31, 2005, as amended. See Note 9 for further information.

The Company’s ability to borrow under the Revolving Loan Facility depends on the amount of eligible accounts
receivable from its clients and there are limitations on the concentration of these accounts with a single client. In
addition, LaSalle retains certain reserves against otherwise available borrowing capacity, including a reserve related
to the Internal Revenue Services’ proposed adjustment to the Company’s 2002 tax return described in Note 8.
Borrowings under the Revolving Loan Facility incur a floating interest rate based on the LIBOR index rate or an
alternate base rate defined in the Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement. The Revolving Loan Facility is
secured principally by a grant of a first priority security interest in all of the Company’s personal property and
fixtures, including its accounts receivable. In addition, the Company pays a commitment fee on the unused portion
of the Revolving Loan Facility as well as fees on outstanding letters of credit.

The Term Loan incurs interest at a floating interest rate based on the LIBOR index rate. The interest rate on the Term
Loan is higher than the interest rate paid on borrowing under the Revolving Loan. Beginning in July 2007, the
Company is obligated to make mandatory monthly principal payments on the Term Loan of $200,000. The Term
[.oan is secured principally by a grant of a second priority security interest in all of the Company’s personal property
and fixtures, including accounts receivable.

The Second Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and Second Lien Loan Agreement contain certain financial
covenants including limits on the amount of cash restructuring charges, and maintenance of maximum fixed charge
coverage ratios, minimum earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and maximum ratio of
indebtedness to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Qther covenants in the Second
Restated LaSalle Credit Agreement and Second Lien Loan Agreement restrict the amount the Company can spend
on capital expenditures, prohibit (with limited exceptions) the Company from incurring additional indebtedness,
repurchasing outstanding common shares, creating liens, acquiring, selling or disposing of certain assets, engaging
in certain mergers and acquisitions, paying dividends or making certain restricted payments.

On February 5, 2007, LaSalle assigned all of its rights and obligations as the agent and lender under the Second Lien
Loan Agreement to an unaffiliated third party.

67




APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

(Dollars in thousands, except share data and as otherwise indicated)

18. Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

The following i isa summary of the quarterly results of operanons including income per share for the Company for
the quarterly periods of fiscal years 2006 and 2005:

First Second Third Fourth Full
Quarter Quarter ~ Quarter Quarter Year
Fiscal year ended December 31, 2006: : ‘
Netrevenue .................... $60,723 $58,236 $49282 $ 56056 $224,297 '
Gross profit. . ................... 7,651 7,286 3,136 9,129 27,202"
Operating (loss) income. . .......... (401) (1,005)- (7,375) 1,534 (7,247)
Netloss .......ovviininnnnen.n (741) (793) (5,005  (24,000) (30,539)
Netlosspershare . ............... $ 001y $ (002 % (0.10) $ (049 $ (0.62)
Fiscal year ended January 1, 2006: ‘ :
Netrevenue .................... $65,674  $58,159 $56,343  $ 59,669  $239,845
Grossprofit. . ................... 6,700 - 2,824 5,377 7,820 22,721
Operating loss. . ................. (3,438) (7.271)  (i5,541)  (4,500) (30,750)
Netloss .........cviiviinn.. (2,382) (5,013)  (13,507y (1,496) (22,398)
Netlosspershare................ $ (005 % (01 $ (©.27) ) $ ‘0.03) $ (045

Total quarterly earnings per common share may not equal the full year amount because net income per common
share is calculated independently for each quarter. Common share equivalents can change on a quarter-to-quarter
basis due to their dilutive impact on each quarterly earnings per share calculation.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

We have not had disagreements with our reglstered public accountmg firm regardmg accounting or ﬁnancm]
disclosure matters.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. : S o S : :
Disclosure Cbnirals‘-an_d Procedures ' ‘ o '

Under the supervision and with the paiticipation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act™)), as.of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form- 10-K. Based on such evaluation, our
principal executive officer and our principal financial officer have concluded-that, as of the end of such period, our
disclosure controls and procedures are effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely
basis, information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange.Act.
£ ‘1
. A

Our management-is responmble for ¢stablishing and mamtammg adequate internal control over ﬁnanclal reporting
(as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f}). Under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Frame-
work, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reportmg is effective as of December 3,
2006. Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over ﬂnancnal reporting as of December 31, 2006
has been audited by Ernst & YOung LLP, an mdependent reglstered pubhc accounting firm, as stated in thlI‘ report
which is included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Management s Report on Internal Control over Fmam:ml Repomng

March 9, 2007 * * ‘ ‘ e :
Robert J. Keller . | L ! Georg‘ehI_-I.. Hepburn m
Chief Executive Officer , . Chief Financial Officer

|
, . N .

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, does not expect that
our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls.over financial reporting will prevent or, detect all
errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well concelved and operated can prov1de only r reasonable not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inberent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud if
any, within our Company have been detected

¥ [ ' }

These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision- makmg can be fauity and that break-
downs can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by 'management override of the.controls..The design of any
system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions'about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections
of any controls’ effectiveness in future periods are subject to risks, Qver time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have not been changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fourth fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2006 that have matertally
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directofs and Shareholdere of APAC Customer Services, Inc.: o

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, that APAC Customer Services, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in'Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). APAC Customer Services; Inc.'s management isresponsible for maintainjn g effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness:of internal control over financial reporting. .Our
responsibility is.to:express-an opinion on managemeént’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s mtemal control over financial repomng ‘based on our audit.. .. ; *

.
! LA

We conducted our audit in accordance wrth the standards of the: Pubhc Company Accountmg Oversrght Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial feporting was niaintained in all material respects.’ Our’audit
inciuded obtaining’ an understanding of internal”control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design ahd operatmg effectiveness:of internal control, and performing
such other procedures: as: we consrdered necessary in the c1rcurnstances We beheve that our audit provrdes a

reasonable ba51s for our oprnron R C Y T
Y [

. ' ’ .

L T

A company’s ‘internal control over financial reportmg is a process desrgned to provide reasonéble assurance
regardrng the relidbility of financial reportmg ‘and the preparanon of financial'stafements for external purposes in
accordance with genera]ly accepted accountlng prmcrp]es A company s internal control over financial reporting
includes those pohcres and procedures that (l) pertam [y thé maintenance of records that, in reasonab}e detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dlspo‘;mons of the assets of the company; (2) provide teasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being ‘made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely'détection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial staternen_ts.\

Yo ' ¥

Because of its inhérent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect fisstate-
ments. Also, ptojections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futuTe periods are subjett to the risk that controls may
become 1nadequate becduse of changes in condltrons or that the degree of compllance w1th the pohcres or
procedures may detenorate .

In'our opmlon management s assessment that APAC Custorner Serv1ces Inc. maintained effective 1ntemal control
over financial reportmg as of December 31, 2006 is fairly statéd, in all matetial respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in cur opinion, APAC Customer Services, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on the COSO criteria.

* ] . . et . ' : - . R - N , IR

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheet of APAC Customer Services, Inc. as of December 31, 2006, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the year then ended and our

report-dated-March 9, 2007r expressed an unquallﬁed 0])11’11011 thereon.

' . . . i . - . L

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Chicago, Illingis « v S R ‘ ‘ L
March 9, 2007 R '
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Item 9B, Other Information.

None. '

PART 11

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this Item (except for the information regarding executive officers required by Item 401
of Regulation S-K which is included in Part T under the caption “Executive Officers of Registrant) will be set forth
in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 1, 2007 under the captlon
“Election of Directors,” which information is incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a financial code of ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers.
This financial code of ethics is posted on the Company’s website. The internet address for our website is http.//
www.apaccustomerservices.com and the financial code of ethics may be found in the Investor Relations portion of
that website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment
to, or waiver from a provision of this code of ethics by p()stmg such information on our website, at the address and
location specified above.’

Information concerning compliance with Section 16 of the Exchange Act will be set forth in our Proxy Statement
for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 1, 2007 under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” which information is hereby incorporated by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 1, 2007 under the captions “Election of Directors — Compensation Committee
Interocks and Insider Participation” and “Executive Compensation,” which information is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters.

(a) The information concerning the security ownership of certain beneficial owners as of March 1, 2007, required
by this Item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 1,
2007 under the caption “Common Shares Beneficially Owned by Principal Shareholders and Management,” which
information is hereby incorporated by reference.

(b) The information concerning security ownership of management as of March t, 2007, required by this Item will
be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on June 1, 2007 under the
caption “Common Shares Beneficially Owned by Principal Shareholders and Management,” which information is
hereby incorporated by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information L

The following table summarizes the status of common shares authorized for issuance under the Company's 2005
Incentive Stock Plan as of December 31, 2006.

' . Number of Securities
£ Remaining Available for
Number of Securities Future Issnance Under
to Be Issued Upon | . Weighted Average Equity Compensation
Exercisé of Outstanding * Exercise Price Plans (Excluding
X Options, Warrants, of Qutstanding Options, Securities Reflected
Plan Category + 't : .+ ' ..and Rights ‘  Warrants, and Rights in the First Column)
Equity compensatlon plans approved by - P . ' o |
security holders .............. . ' 7,632,894 804 2,782,108
i rl : ’. L ° Pl ' ot " i e
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders.". . ..... R A A T s

, . "

item 13 Certam Relatmnshlps and Related Transactmns. : S "o

The information requlred ‘by thls ltem will be set fonl; in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be hield on June 1, 2007 under the captions “Election of Directors” and “Certain Relatmnshlps and
Related Transactions,” which mformatmn is hereby mcorporated by reference

P !

Item 14 Prmclpal Accountmg Fees and Services. | _
The information required' by this Itém 'will be set forth in our Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be held on June 1, 2007 under the caption “Relationship with Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm,” which information is incorporated herein by reference. - o '

8

- - + . -+ LA
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.PART IV.
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Sfatement échedulw. -,
(a) (1) Financial Statements

The foltowing financial statements of the Company are included in Part [I, Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K:

{i} Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31,
2006

. 1
3

(ii) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for the Fiscal Yea:s Ended January L
2006 and January 2, 2005

(iii) Consolidated Sta'te;nents of Operations for the Fiscal Yeare Ended December 31, 2006, January I,
2006, and January 2, 2003 .

{iv) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of Decerpbet_’ 31, 2006, and January 1, 2006
(v) Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Fiscal Years Ended Dece‘mber 31, 2006,
January 1, 2006, and January 2, 2005 '

(vi) Consolidated Stalemenls of Cash Flows for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31 2006, January 1,
2006, and January 2, 2005 i

(vii) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

N

(viii) Quarterly Results of Operations for the Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2006 and January 1, 2006

oy

\

" (2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is submitted as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(i) Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Ve S ! .
All other schedules are not submitted because they are not applicable or are not required under
Regulation 5-X or because the required information is included in the ﬁnanc1a1 statements or notes

thereto. - o .
1 T '

(3) Exhibits

i

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index attached he}eto.

(b) Exhibits !

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. See Item 15(a) (3) above.

(©) Financial Statement Schedules

The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. See Item 15(a) (2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reglstrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto diily authorized.

APAC CUSTOMER SERVICES, INC.

By: /s/ GeorGe H. HEPBURN II]

George H. Hepbum m
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 16, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title - Date

/s/ THEODORE G. SCHWARTZ* " Chairman of the Board of Directors ' March 16, 2007
Theodore G. Schwart;

/s! Rosert J. KELLER Director and Chief Executive Officer March 16, 2007

Robert J. Keller (Principal Executive Officer)
Is/ Georce H. Hepeurn 111 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 16, 2007
George H. Hepburn 111 Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ JosepH R. DooLAN Vice President and Controller March 16, 2007
Joseph R. Doolan . ] (Principal Accounting Officer) .
/s/ Cinoy K. ANDREOTTI® Director March 16, 2007
Cindy K. Andreotti '
1s/ THOMAS M CoLuns* Direc.tor K March 16, 2007
Thomas M. Collins
/s/  JouN W. GERDELMAN* Director March 16, 2007
John W. Gerdelman s )
/st Joun C. KRaFT* Director - March 16, 2007
John C. Kraft
/s/ Joun I. PArRk* Director March 16, 2007
John J. Park "

} o

* George H. Hepburn III, as attorney in fact for each person indicated.
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SCHEDULE It

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
{Dollars in thousands)

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Costs and End of
Description Period Expenses Deductions(a) Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Fiscal Year ended January 2,2005................. $2,451 $¢200) $ 58 $2,193
Fiscal Year ended January 1,2006................. 2,193 50 324 1,919
1,300 1,473

Fiscal Year ended December 31,2006 .............. 1,919 854

(a) Represents charges for which the allowance account was created.
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Exhibit

Number -

3.1

3.2

4.1
*¥10.1
*10.2
*10.3
*10.4
*10.5

*10.6
*10.7

%108
+109

*10.10
*10.11
*10.12 E
*10.13
%1014
*10.15
*10.16

*10.17

10.18

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Articles of Incorporation of APAC Customer Services, Inc., incorporated bly reference to APAC Customer
Services, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ﬁscal year ended January 1, 2006,

Cemﬁcate of Amendment of the Amended and Restated Bylaws of APAC Customer Services, Inc. as
amended March 10, 2004, incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10 Q) for the fiscal quarter ended March 28, 2004.

Speelmen Common Stock Certificate, incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.'s

‘Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2002,

APAC Customer Services, Inc. 2005 Tncentive Stock Plan incorporated by reference into APAC Customer
Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 7, 2006.

Form of Stock Option Agreement 1ncorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, dated February 11, 2005.

Form of Stock Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2006.

Form of Director Option Agreement, incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2006.

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 1, 2006.

Form of Restricted Stock’ Award Agreement. '

APAC Cuistomer Services, Inc. Retirement Plan for Senior Employees incorporated by reference into
APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005,

Employment Agreement with Robert J. Keller, dated March 10, 2004, incorporated by reference to APAC
Customer Services, Inc.’s Annuat Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2003.

Employment Agreement with Pamela R. Schneider, dated June 1, 2005 incorporated by reference to APAC
Customer Services, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2005.

Employment Agreement with James M. McClenahan, dated May 9, 2004, incorporated by reference to
APAC Customer Servrces Inc.’s Quarter]y Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quaner ended June 27, 2004,

Employment Agreement ‘'with Karen R. Tulloch, dated May 28, 2005, mcorporated by reference to APAC
Customer Services, Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 3, 2005.

Employment Agreement with George H. Hepburn I11, dated September 6, 2005, tncorporated by reference
to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 15, 2005.

Employment Agreement with Mark E. McDermott, dated April 12, 2004, mcorporated by reference into
APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2, 2005.

Employment Agreement- w1th Joseph R. Doolan, dated January 11, 2006, incorporated .by reference to
APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 9, 2006.

APAC Customer Services, Inc. 2005 Management Incentive Plan, effective January 3, 2005, incorporated
by reference into APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 7, 2006.

APAC Customer Services, Inc. 2005 Management Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective
March 15, 2007.

Form of Employment Security Agreement between the Company and its Senior Management Team,
incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended January 1, 2006.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated October 31, 2005, incorporated by reference to APAC
Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated November 3, 2005.




Exhibit

*

Nuimber

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

21.1
23.1
232
24.1

311

351.2

321

Description

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, effective as of February 21, 2006,
incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated March 9,
2006.

Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, effective as of April 2, 2006, incorporated
by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated April 27, 2006.

Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, effective as of June 2, 2006, incorporated
by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 9, 2006.

Amendment No. 4 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2006,
incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
October 30, 2006.

Amendment No. 5 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 10, 2006,
incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for
fiscal quarter ended October 1, 2006.

Amendment No. 6 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2006,
incorporated by reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
December 8, 2006.

Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2007, incorporated by
reference to APAC Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 5, 2007.

Second Lien Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2007, incorporated by reference to APAC
Customer Services, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 5, 2007.

Registration Rights Agreement incorporated by reference to APAC TeleServices, Inc.’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, as amended, Registration No. 33-95638.

Tax Agreement incorporated by reference to APAC TeleServices, Inc.’s Registration Statement on
Form S$-1, as amended, Registration No. 33-95638.

Subsidiaries of APAC Customer Services, Inc.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Power of attorney executed by Theodore G. Schwartz, Cindy K. Andreotti, Thomas M. Cellins, John W,
Gerdelman, John C. Kraft, Robert J. Keller, and John J. Park.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Centification of Chief Financial Officer, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Indicates management employment contracts or compensatory plans or arrangemenits.




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFECATION AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert 1. Keller, Chief Executive Officer of APAC Customer Services, [nc., certify that;

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of APAC Customer Services, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under Wthh such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the rcglstrant as
of, and for, the periods presented in this report; - :

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)), and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:
a. Designed. such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, pamcularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,

i b.  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles; .

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofithe end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that

- occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the.registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors
{or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. . All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and :

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2007 . fs!{ Rosert J. KELLER

' Robert J. Keller
\ Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF. 2002

I, George H. Hepburn 11, Chief Financial Officer of APAC Customer Services, Inc., certify that: A

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of APAC Customer.Services, Inc.;” . B

2. . Based.on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
© state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such

statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; AR
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statenients, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as

of, and for, the periods presented in this report; ' 1 ._ ¥t
4.+ The registrant’s other certifying officer{s) and I are responsible for establishing. and maintaining: disclosure
+ controls and procedures (ds defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}), and intérnal control over
+ financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Ruies 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such-disclosure controls and procedures to
be designedunder our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant; including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, partlcularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared; - -~ i o’

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our'supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding.the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements-for external ‘purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles; e e

++¢c. - Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
.. report our conclusions about the effectiVeness of the disclosiire controls and procedures,'as.of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and S :

d. Disclosed in-this ‘report any change in the registrant’s internal control over.financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter.in the case

i 'of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely-to materlallyraffect the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and « e

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of. the reglstrant s board of directors

(or persons performing the equivalent functions): SR - ) . '

a. . All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or.opération of internal control over

- financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant 8 ablhty to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and - : K L

b.. -Any fraud, whether ornot material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. o :

Date: March 16, 2007 . Co fs/ GrorgeE H. Hepeurn 111 © . & v ot -

George H. Hepbum III
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEQ and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of APAC Customer Services, Inc. {the “Company”) for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), Robert 1. Keller, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and George H. Hepburn III, as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780(d})); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/  Rosert J. KELLER
Name: Robert J. Keller

Title:  Chief Executive Officer
Date:  March 16, 2007

Is/  GeorGe H. HepBurn 111

Name: George H. Hepburn [}
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 16, 2007

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except
to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of §18 of
the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the
Company, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such
filing.
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Corporate and Shareholder Information

Board of Directors

Theodore G. Schwartz
Founder, Chairman of the Board
APAC Customer Services, Inc.

Cindy K. Andreotti
President and Chief Executive Officer
The Andreotti Group LLC

Thomas M. Collins
Of Counsel
Shuttieworth & Ingersoll, PC.

John'W. Gerdelman
Executive Chairman
Intelliden Corporation

Robert J. Keller
President and Chief Executive Officer
APAC Customer Services, Inc.

John C. Kraft

Formerly Vice Chairman and Chief
Operating Officer

Leo Burnett

John J, Park
Chief Financial Officer
Hewitt Associates

Headquarters

APAC Customer Services, Inc.
Six Parkway North
Deerfield, lllinois 60015

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The APAC Customer Services, Inc.
Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be
held on June 1, 2007

Executive Managem ent

Robert J. Keller
President and Chief Executive Officer

James M. McClenahan
Senior Vice President, Sales and
Marketing

Mark E. McDermott
Senior Vice President and Chief
tnformation Officer

George H. Hephurn 111
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Pamela R. Schneider
Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Joseph R. Doolan
Vice President and Controller

Transfer A gent

LaSalle Bank NA

Sharehclder Services

PO. Box 3319

South Hackensack, NJ 07310-1919

Investor Relations

George H. Hepburn 1l

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

APAC Customer Services, Inc.
Six Parkway North

Deerfield, llinois 60015

Phone: 847-374-4995

Fax: 847-236-5451

Email: ghhepburn@apacmait.com

Stock Listing

The Company's Common Shares trade
on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. under

the symbol of APAC.

Forwar(l-Looking Statement

Certain statements, including
statements about future operating and
financial results are forward-locking
statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995, Statements that are not
historical facts, including statements
about the beliefs and expectations of
the Company and its management are
forward-looking statements. All forward-
looking statements are inherently
uncertain as they are based on various
expectations and assumptions ahout
future events, and they are subject

to known and unknown risks and
uncertainties and other factors which
can cause actual events and results to
differ materially from historic results and
the future results expressed or implied
by the forward-looking statements. The
Company intends its forward-looking
statements to speak only as of the date
on which they were made. Refer 1o the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2006,
which is included within this Annual
Report, for a description of the factors
that could cause such results to differ.
Copies of the Company’s public filings
are available on a web site maintained by
the SEC at http:/fwww.sec.gov

ustomer Services, Inc.
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